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          1  FINANCE AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Welcome to

          3  today's Finance Committee hearing on the Mayor's

          4  Executive Budget for Fiscal Year 2007.

          5                 My name is David Weprin, I chair the

          6  Council's Finance Committee.  This mornings Budget

          7  Hearing is in conjunction with the Council's Health

          8  Committee, Chaired by my colleague, our Majority

          9  Leader, Council Member Joel Rivera, who was here

         10  very promptly this morning, Council Member Maria

         11  Carmen Arroyo from the Bronx, and I see Council

         12  Member Mike McMahon from Staten Island, and we have

         13  a very special guest with us, another council member

         14  but he is not from New York City, he is from Biloxi,

         15  Mississippi, and that is Council Member Edward "Ed"

         16  Gemmill.  He is somewhere in the audience, I saw

         17  him.  Well, he was here.

         18                 This morning we will hear from, later

         19  on, the Task Force on Hospital Closings, chaired by

         20  my colleague Council Member Helen Sears, as we

         21  review the proposed budgets of the Office of the

         22  Chief Medical Examiner, the Health and Hospitals

         23  Corporation, and the Department of Health and Mental

         24  Hygiene.

         25                 Together these agencies play an
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          2  important role in the health, safety and welfare of

          3  city residents and oftentimes, provide critical

          4  health care services to city residents, regardless

          5  of ability to pay.  Specifically, they offer mental

          6  health and substance abuse services, provide

          7  counseling, operate acute care hospitals, treatment

          8  centers, and satellite clinics for City residents,

          9  and I have called in to investigate deaths occurring

         10  in the City which may involve foul play.  Given the

         11  City's recent financial rebound, I am extremely

         12  displeased to see that Fiscal Year`07's Executive

         13  Budget still contains $28 million in cuts to the

         14  Department of Health Public Health Programs, and $22

         15  million in cuts to the Health and Hospitals

         16  Corporation.

         17                 These cuts are simply unacceptable,

         18  and represent funding provided by the City Council

         19  in Fiscal Year`06 Adopted Budget, but not baselined

         20  by the Mayor in the City's Financial Plan for Fiscal

         21  Year`07.

         22                 I can assure you that this Committee,

         23  together with the Committee on Health will work hard

         24  to restore these cuts, and we look forward to

         25  discussing how we can further ensure that these
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          2  initiatives part of upcoming budgets, rather than

          3  yearly cuts.

          4                 The last portion of today's hearing

          5  will be held together with the Parks and Recreation

          6  Committee, chaired by my colleague, Council Member

          7  Helen Diane Foster, as we inquire to the sufficiency

          8  of funding for the Department of Parks and

          9  Recreation.

         10                 Once again, I am frustrated to note

         11  that the Mayor's Fiscal Year`07 Executive Budget

         12  fails to restore $7.3 million to the Department's

         13  Seasonal Budget, fails to baseline $2 million to

         14  hire additional Park Enforcement Patrol Officers,

         15  and has cut funding for the Work Experience Program

         16  Participants. Without additional funding, it will be

         17  difficult for this agency to continue to maintain

         18  clean and safe parks, and provide the City with

         19  greenspace and recreational opportunities.

         20                 We have now been re- joined by our

         21  Council Member from Ward Six in Biloxi, Mississippi,

         22  Ed Gemmill.

         23                 Ed, welcome.

         24                 MR. Gemmill:  We do appreciate all

         25  the help that you bring us.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  That is great,

          3  and he is here to thank us for our help, sending

          4  down people for Katrina, and of course, they whole

          5  country was with us after 9/11, including Biloxi,

          6  Mississippi, and we hope you enjoy your stay in New

          7  York City, and spend a lot of money.  We need the

          8  money.

          9                 I will now turn the microphone over

         10  to my co chair, Council Member Joel Rivera.

         11                 CO- CHAIR RIVERA:  Thank you very

         12  much, Chairman Weprin.

         13                 Good morning, my name is Joel Rivera,

         14  I am the chair of the Health Committee.  I am joined

         15  here this morning by my colleagues Maria del Carmen

         16  Arroyo, and Mike McMahon, who was here just a second

         17  ago, and of course, our chair of the Finance

         18  Committee.

         19                 The topic of today's hearing is the

         20  Mayor's Fiscal 2007 Executive Budget, for the Chief

         21  Medical Examiner, the Health and Hospitals

         22  Corporation, and the Department of Health and Mental

         23  Hygiene.

         24                 This morning we will hear from the

         25  Office of the Chief Medical Examiner on the Mayor's
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          2  Fiscal 2007 Executive Budget for the Department of

          3  Health and Mental Hygiene.

          4                 The Chief Medical Examiner's Fiscal

          5  2007 Executive Expense Budget is approximately $53

          6  million.  We will discuss a number of budgetary

          7  issues, one in particular is a reduction in the head

          8  count relating to the OCME's new DNA building.  In

          9  addition, we will discuss proposed additions to

         10  OCME's capital budget.

         11                 This morning we will be hearing from

         12  Doctor Charles Hirsch, the Chief Medical Examiner

         13  before hearing from our witnesses, and I would like

         14  to note that the committee members will be coming in

         15  and out, obviously there are different meetings

         16  taking place simultaneously.

         17                 So with that being said, we may

         18  begin.

         19                 DR. HIRSCH:  Thank you Mr. Chairman.

         20                 I am Charles Hirsch, the Chief

         21  Medical Examiner. Seated on my left is Jody Lipton,

         22  our General Counsel, seated on my near right is

         23  Matthew Berlin, our Chief of Staff, and seated on my

         24  far right is Barbara Butcher, the Director of

         25  Medical Legal Investigations.
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          2                 Chairman Rivera, Chairman Weprin,

          3  members of council, I am pleased to begin my remarks

          4  with encouraging news about three major initiatives

          5  of the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner.

          6                 First, our continued work to identify

          7  victims of the World Trade Center disaster shows

          8  signs of success.  As you remember, early in 2005

          9  the combined efforts of our scientists, outside

         10  consultants and private companies had exhausted the

         11  limits of DNA identification technology and forced

         12  us, reluctantly, to pause in our efforts to identify

         13  remains until more advanced technology was

         14  available.

         15                 Recently one of our consulting

         16  laboratories informed us that it had developed an

         17  improved method for extracting DNA from bone, and we

         18  have begun sending samples to that laboratory for

         19  additional testing.  Early indications are that this

         20  technology has the capacity to generate full DNA

         21  profiles from bones that previously failed to yield

         22  sufficient DNA for identification.

         23                 However, the total number or

         24  proportion of bones expected to yield profiles

         25  sufficient to make identifications cannot be
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          2  predicted on the basis of the limited data available

          3  at this time.

          4                 The Office of Chief Medical Examiner

          5  has been involved in recovery operations at the

          6  Deutsche Bank building. Prior to the temporary

          7  suspension of operations on April 30, due to

          8  asbestos contamination, we received 695 bone

          9  fragments.  Of these, 15 were of sufficient size for

         10  us to analyze; because of the small size of the

         11  other 680, we are working with our consultant to

         12  determine the most appropriate handling and testing

         13  for them.

         14                 Currently, we have identified 1,595

         15  of the 2,749 persons who were killed at the World

         16  Trade Center; 853 of those identifications were

         17  accomplished exclusively by DNA.

         18                 Our new 372,000 square foot Forensic

         19  Biology Laboratory is on schedule and budget to open

         20  in November 2006. This laboratory, the largest, most

         21  advanced public DNA laboratory in the United States,

         22  will enable New York City to expand its DNA testing

         23  beyond our current focus on violent crimes to the

         24  use of DNA to evaluate evidence from property

         25  crimes.
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          2                 To help coordinate with other

          3  agencies, we have convened a Biology Expansion

          4  Committee, consisting of representatives from the

          5  five District Attorney Offices, the Law Department,

          6  the Criminal Justice Coordinator and the New York

          7  Police Department.  To staff the facility, we have

          8  begun to recruit new and experienced scientists.  We

          9  already have a training program to ensure that new

         10  scientists meet accreditation standards.  We

         11  anticipate winter and spring of 2007 will be a shake

         12  down of the new lab, with the first large class of

         13  new trainees starting in July 2007.  Full staffing

         14  at the laboratory is planned in 2009.

         15                 Our final initiative is the

         16  replacement of inadequate medical examiner

         17  facilities.  In 1989, the Office of Chief Medical

         18  Examiner physical plant consisted of three

         19  facilities.  Our Manhattan headquarters, housing our

         20  central administration and laboratories, handled

         21  deaths from Manhattan and the Bronx.  We had

         22  inadequate space in hospital buildings in Queens and

         23  Brooklyn.  The latter also received deaths from

         24  Staten Island.  There were no offices in the Bronx

         25  or Staten Island.
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          2                 We now have modern, free standing

          3  buildings Brooklyn, Queens and Staten Island.  These

          4  offices provide a decent environment for families

          5  who come to us for information or to make an

          6  identification, and they provide greatly improved

          7  working conditions for our employees.

          8                 Our Bronx office, opened in the early

          9  1990's is better than its former counterparts in

         10  Brooklyn and Queens but is inadequate.  We are

         11  working with HHC and OMB to finalize the development

         12  of a new Bronx building.

         13                 In the FY 2007 Operating Budget, we

         14  will have available a total of $52.5 million.  A

         15  minor budget reduction was accomplished by delayed

         16  hiring of previously budgeted DNA personnel,

         17  necessitated by the 19 month slippage of the

         18  construction schedule caused by foundation problems.

         19    Overall, as stated in my previous testimony, I

         20  remain confident that our budgetary allocation will

         21  continue to support and maintain our customary

         22  standard of excellence.

         23                 Mr. Chairman, that concludes my

         24  prepared remarks.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you Dr.
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          2  Hirsch.

          3                 You referred in your testimony that

          4  you have identified 58 percent of the 2,749 persons

          5  who perished at the World Trade Center.  That is

          6  very good.  I am very happy about that, and

          7  obviously, more than half of the identifications

          8  were through DNA.

          9                 Is there any hope at this point,

         10  though, of identifying the rest- the other 42

         11  percent?  Or what is the status as far as chances of

         12  that, at this point?

         13                 DR. HIRSCH:  I am certain that we

         14  will make additional, new identifications.  I cannot

         15  predict how many, and I cannot predict what

         16  proportion of the total number of fatalities will

         17  ultimately be identified.

         18                 What I can tell you with certainty is

         19  that we will continue to use whatever technology is

         20  available.  We know that sooner or later we will

         21  exhaust the limits of any technology that is

         22  currently available, and then we will not stop, we

         23  will only pause.  When something new and better

         24  comes along, then we will try that.

         25                 In essence, what I can promise you is
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          2  that we will never quit.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Well I

          4  appreciate that, and I know the families of the

          5  loved ones that perished appreciate that, and we

          6  want to thank you on behalf of the families and on

          7  behalf of the city council.  We know what an

          8  important mission that is, and how comforting it is

          9  to give some repose to those families who are still

         10  out there.

         11                 So we do appreciate it, and we hope

         12  you continue, and wish you success.

         13                 I am just going to ask you one more

         14  question about the delayed DNA lab, and then I will

         15  turn it over to my co- chair.

         16                 I know Fiscal`07's Preliminary Budget

         17  including $1.2 million in savings in Fiscal`06, and

         18  $3.4 million in`07 due to the delay of the opening

         19  of the DNA lab.

         20                 Can you give us an update on that,

         21  and what the status is?

         22                 DR. HIRSCH:  The construction

         23  schedule is now fairly reasonably predictable.  We

         24  anticipate occupancy of the new building in November

         25  of this year.  Hiring requires that we have adequate

                                                            16

          1  FINANCE AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  personnel to train new hires, regardless of their

          3  background, unless they have previously worked in a

          4  DNA laboratory, there is a mandatory period, between

          5  six months and a year, depending on their

          6  qualifications before they can do case work.  This

          7  is mandated by our accreditation standards, so we

          8  cannot go out and hire 200 people all at one time,

          9  simply because if we had personnel to train them,

         10  then who would do the work. So, the phase in has to

         11  be done over a period of, at least, two and a half

         12  years to let us continue to do our case work.  The

         13  schedule we have calls for the first large group, at

         14  least a dozens people starting July 1,`07.  The

         15  starting classes will be progressively larger until

         16  we get up to full staff in`09, and I am confident

         17  that we can maintain that schedule.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  I saw $17.2

         19  million was added to the Mayor's Executive Plan.

         20                 Is that money going to be utilized in

         21  Fiscal Year`07?

         22                 DR. HIRSCH:  $17.2 million for what,

         23  Sir?  I am not sure--.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  On the capital

         25  side.
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          2                 DR. HIRSCH:  Oh, that is additional

          3  capital funding for the building, yes, that is--.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Will that be

          5  used though in the Fiscal Year`07?

          6                 DR. HIRSCH:  Yes sir.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, thank you.

          8                 I am going to turn it over to my co-

          9  chair Rivera.

         10                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you

         11  very much.  Dr. Hirsch thank you again for joining

         12  us.

         13                 I do see that in your testimony you

         14  make reference to the delayed recovery operations in

         15  the Deutsche Bank because of the asbestos

         16  contamination.  But why, I mean I am just not to

         17  knowledgeable on why it took so long to get the

         18  asbestos situation under control so we can get

         19  people in there to examine the remains, and to get

         20  the remains.

         21                 DR. HIRSCH:  Chairman Rivera, we are

         22  not the agency primarily responsible for that but we

         23  have had people participating.

         24                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.

         25                 DR. HIRSCH:  My understanding is that

                                                            18

          1  FINANCE AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  on the roof of the Deutsche Bank building there was

          3  a pile of debris, and when they started to search it

          4  they found that it was full of asbestos, and that it

          5  has not been previously searched and cleaned out,

          6  and so they had to stop what they were doing, and

          7  now it is in the hands of the Environmental

          8  Protection Agency and other responsible authorities.

          9                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  We have

         10  already gone roof to roof to find as many pieces of

         11  remains as we possibly can?  We already accomplished

         12  that investigation?

         13                 DR. HIRSCH:  Well, whatever is found

         14  will be tested.  We will test 100 percent of the

         15  human tissue that is recovered, either from that

         16  building or elsewhere.

         17                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, good.

         18                 I just have one other short question.

         19    I just wanted to find out, I know you mentioned

         20  that you are going to have about a dozen new

         21  employees next year, and then progressively

         22  increasing.

         23                 Do we know what the total staff count

         24  will be

         25  by 2009?
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          2                 DR. HIRSCH:  We anticipate that total

          3  staffing of the laboratory will be between four and

          4  five hundred people, it is currently a little more

          5  than 150.

          6                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, so you

          7  are going to get about a dozen next year, and--.

          8                 DR. HIRSCH:  In six month intervals

          9  we will be hiring progressively larger classes.

         10                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, you do

         11  not know exactly how many in the first six months

         12  period?

         13                 DR. HIRSCH:  I do not have those

         14  numbers off the top of my head.  I am sorry.

         15                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, but

         16  the goal is about four to five hundred?

         17                 DR. HIRSCH:  Approximately.

         18                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, I am

         19  done.

         20                 We have also been joined by Council

         21  Member Miquel Martinez, Council Member Rosie Mendez,

         22  and Council Member Robert Jackson, and Council

         23  Member Inez Dickens.

         24                 At this point in time, I will open it

         25  up to the rest of the committee members if they have
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          2  questions for the Chief Medical Examiner.

          3                 Council Member Arroyo.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Good morning,

          5  thank you for your testimony.

          6                 You are discussing staffing but you

          7  are planning to cut 67 in this year according to

          8  what I am reading here.

          9                 How do you reconcile those numbers?

         10                 DR. HIRSCH:  Those are delayed hires

         11  that were previously in the budget, and since the

         12  building was delayed for nineteen months by problems

         13  with its foundation, if we hired those people now,

         14  we would not have a place for them to sit and work.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  The

         16  information I am reading indicates that you plan to

         17  eliminate 67 full time positions.  To me that means

         18  they are already on staff.

         19                 DR. HIRSCH:  I do not know what you

         20  are referring to.

         21                 MR. BERLIN:  Those are budget lines,

         22  there are not people in them.  So, we are simply

         23  eliminating the line.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Could you

         25  please, sir, identify yourself for the record?
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          2                 MR. BERLIN:  Sure, my name is Matt

          3  Berlin, I am the Chief of Staff.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          5                 MR. BERLIN:  Those are budgeted

          6  positions that do not have people in them, and

          7  because of the delay in staffing up, we do not-

          8  during the period that this financial plan covers,

          9  we will not need the positions.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Okay, well

         11  that is clear because it sounds like a

         12  contradiction.

         13                 You mentioned that you need a new

         14  facility in the Bronx.  I would like to draw your

         15  attention to a plot of land in Oakpoint in Hunts

         16  Point that is available for development so that we

         17  would take one of your facilities over any

         18  correction facility any day.

         19                 Thank you Mr. Chair.

         20                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Anyone else?

         21                 Seeing none, thank you very much

         22  Doctor Hirsch, and to your entire team, thank you

         23  for taking the time to be here today.

         24                 Thank you, Doctor Hirsch.

         25                 DR. HIRSCH:  Thank you very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Glad to see you

          3  looking well, and in good health.

          4                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  I do know we

          5  have, actually, one of the best DNA labs, better

          6  than the F.B.I. Has and better than most other

          7  agencies.  I want to commend you for your fine work.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  We will now hear

          9  from the Health and Hospitals Corporation.  Are they

         10  in the House?

         11                 And in addition to this portion being

         12  co- chaired by the Chairman of the Health Committee,

         13  Joel Rivera, this will also be co- chaired by the

         14  Chair of the Task Force on Hospital Closings,

         15  Council Member Helen Sears.

         16                 Do you want to join us up here,

         17  Helen?

         18                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Helen, we

         19  wanted company over here.  We are playing tug of war

         20  with you Helen.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Mr. President,

         22  good to see you, proceed, and if you could just

         23  introduce your distinguished team as well.

         24                 MR. AVILES:  Good morning

         25  Chairpersons Rivera, Weprin and Sears, members of
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          2  the Health and Finance Committee and other

          3  distinguished members of the New York City Council.

          4                 I am Alan Aviles, President of the

          5  New York City Health and Hospitals Corporation.

          6  Joining me today are two of our Senior Executives.

          7  To my left, Marlene Zurach (phonetic), our Chief

          8  Financial Officer, to my right, Senior Vice

          9  President, LaRay Brown.

         10                      Thank you for affording me the

         11  opportunity to discuss the impact of the Fiscal Year

         12  2007 Executive Budget, and to provide an update on

         13  some of our initiatives, including some of the

         14  programs supported by the Council.

         15                 First, I would like to thank you for

         16  approving the budget modification in April.  This

         17  modification provided HHC with additional funding

         18  for the next three years that is vital in order for

         19  HHC to support current programs and to sustain and

         20  increase the extensive preventive health, chronic

         21  disease management, patient safety and operational

         22  improvement gains we have achieved.  Our work to

         23  consistently implement effective, evidence- based

         24  clinical practices, particularly to treat conditions

         25  like pneumonia, heart attack, and heart failure, is
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          2  already being reflected in objective quality

          3  ratings.

          4                 According to the most recent publicly

          5  reported federal and state quality rankings, six out

          6  of the ten top ranked hospitals in New York City in

          7  the overall care of heart attack, heart failure and

          8  pneumonia were HHC hospitals.

          9                 Five HHC facilities also are in the

         10  top ten for hospitals in New York City that ranked

         11  best in prevention of surgical site infection.

         12                 Even more remarkably, Coney Island

         13  Hospital was rated the top hospital in all of New

         14  York State based on composite scores for all of the

         15  federal and state core quality measures related to

         16  heart attack, heart failure and pneumonia.

         17                 We are very grateful for the

         18  unwavering support that we have received from the

         19  Mayor and the council this year, and in previous

         20  years.  At a time when we face the possibility of

         21  significant funding reductions as a result of the

         22  State budget and perennial concerns over the federal

         23  budget and other issues, the ongoing support we

         24  receive locally is more important than ever.

         25                 When I testified before you in March,
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          2  we were anticipating a $140 million revenue

          3  reduction due to the budget cuts proposed by the

          4  Governor.

          5                 As you know, this possibility still

          6  exists in spite of the actions taken by the State

          7  Legislature to restore the reductions proposed by

          8  the Governor and to override his vetoes.  In fact,

          9  the cut in funding could be closer to $185 million

         10  because the increases in the emergency department

         11  Medicaid rate and nursing home rates for which we,

         12  and many of you, advocated, and that were approved

         13  by the Legislature, were also vetoed by the

         14  Governor.

         15                 Given the Governor's statements that

         16  the Legislature acted unconstitutionally, hospitals

         17  and nursing homes appear to be faced with rate

         18  reductions beginning July 1st that will be

         19  retroactive to April 1st.  These reductions would

         20  begin to erode the additional funding we received in

         21  the April budget modification that was intended to

         22  cover out- year gaps, which we face over the next

         23  three years.

         24                 While these Medicaid rate reductions

         25  are being challenged in court by a lawsuit that was
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          2  brought last week by the Greater New York Hospital

          3  Association, and the Healthcare Association of New

          4  York State is poised to do the same.  Final

          5  resolution could take weeks or months if budget

          6  negotiations resume in Albany, or longer depending

          7  upon how quickly the courts proceed with these

          8  suits.

          9                 In Washington, the President is also

         10  seeking to cut the Medicaid and Medicare programs;

         11  these proposals could reduce funding to HHC by

         12  hundreds of millions of dollars.  HHC staff were in

         13  Washington twice last month working with colleagues

         14  in the health care industry to prevent these cuts

         15  from being enacted.

         16                 On another front, Congress is

         17  debating what to do about immigration and

         18  specifically the estimated eleven million

         19  undocumented persons in the United States.  While no

         20  laws have been changed, the intense focus on this

         21  issue has been reported to have had a chilling

         22  effect on the willingness of immigrants to obtain

         23  medical services.

         24                 In order to dispel these concerns and

         25  reassure immigrant New Yorkers that public hospitals
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          2  are safe, and that we will honor their right to

          3  privacy, HHC has undertaken a public awareness

          4  campaign together with the Mayor's Office of

          5  Immigrant Affairs.  We, that is, Commissioner

          6  Linares and I, held a press conference last week

          7  with the New York Immigration Coalition on this

          8  issue, and are working with the adult literacy

          9  community and ethnic media outlets to get this

         10  message out.  I also sent a letter to all HHC staff

         11  reaffirming HHC's commitment to all New Yorkers and

         12  outlining HHC's policy prohibiting employees from

         13  sharing information about patients' immigration

         14  status with immigration authorities or law

         15  enforcement agencies.

         16                 All information that is garnered in

         17  the course of determining eligibility for public

         18  health insurance programs or for HHC Options is kept

         19  strictly confidential.  Any HHC employee who

         20  violates this policy will lose his or her job.

         21                 I would like to work with the Council

         22  to communicate our message as broadly as possible so

         23  that immigrant New Yorkers know that they can obtain

         24  medical care at HHC facilities without fear.

         25                 On a related issue, I would like to
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          2  highlight one of the innovative programs that is

          3  part of a multidimensional effort that HHC has

          4  undertaken to effectively serve New Yorkers, many of

          5  them immigrants, who have Limited English

          6  Proficiency. That program is the TEMIS program.

          7  TEMIS stands for Technology Enhanced Medical

          8  Interpreting System and it enables remote

          9  simultaneous translation services to patients and

         10  providers via wireless headsets.

         11                 TEMIS currently operates at Bellevue

         12  Hospital Center and Gouverneur Healthcare Services,

         13  and will be operational at Kings County Hospital

         14  Center and East New York Diagnostic and Treatment

         15  Center in certain locations by the end of this

         16  month.  The Council assisted HHC in the expansion of

         17  this technology and interpreter resources by

         18  contributing $1.893 million last year in expense and

         19  capital funding.

         20                 I am happy to report that the in-

         21  depth training for the new interpreters that were

         22  hired with some of these funds will be completed

         23  this week.  This means that through TEMIS

         24  interpretation is available in eight languages:

         25  Spanish, Mandarin, Cantonese, Fukinese, Bengali,
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          2  French, Haitian Creole and Polish.  There are a

          3  total of 27 interpreters on staff at Bellevue who

          4  can provide simultaneous translation through TEMIS

          5  to patients and providers at Bellevue, Gouverneur,

          6  Kings County and East New York.

          7                 A portion of the capital funds that

          8  was granted allowed HHC to renovate and expand the

          9  call center at Bellevue Hospital to accommodate the

         10  increased interpreter staff.  As soon as this work

         11  is completed later this month, the hours of TEMIS

         12  availability will be expanded to cover ten hours per

         13  day, Monday through Friday.

         14                 As I stated at the Preliminary Budget

         15  Hearing, funding for the TEMIS program expansion

         16  that was included in last year's budget was not

         17  baselined.  I would urge the council to continue its

         18  support of the expanded program.

         19                 I would also ask the Council to

         20  consider providing $1 million in additional funding

         21  that would be used to expand TEMIS to the South

         22  Bronx at Lincoln Hospital and at the two Diagnostic

         23  and Treatment Centers, Segundo Ruiz Belvis and

         24  Morrisania.  With another $1 million in additional

         25  funding for a total of $2 million, TEMIS could be
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          2  implemented at another two HHC facilities, such as

          3  Harlem and Metropolitan Hospitals.

          4                 HHC has made it a priority to reduce

          5  barriers to health care access.  More than 100

          6  different languages are spoken at HHC facilities

          7  everyday.  LEP patients comprise 50 percent of the

          8  patients served in the catchment areas of some HHC

          9  hospitals. As a result, HHC facilities serve a much

         10  higher number of LEP patients than other hospitals

         11  in the City.  This increased demand creates a

         12  greater need for strengthened LEP services and

         13  capacity at our public hospitals, health centers and

         14  nursing homes.

         15                 Turning to another area in which we

         16  receive funding from the Council last year, I would

         17  like to update you on our rapid HIV testing

         18  expansion initiative that I spoke briefly about at

         19  the Preliminary Budget Hearing.

         20                 As I stated in March, all HHC

         21  hospitals are Designated AIDS Centers and each has

         22  begun using rapid HIV testing methods, and

         23  streamlines pre- test counseling to incorporate HIV

         24  testing into routine care.  Through rapid testing,

         25  we are steadily broadening our capacity across all
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          2  care settings to identify more people with

          3  undiagnosed HIV disease, and to link these

          4  individuals with treatment as early as possible.

          5  Early treatment of HIV will improve clinical

          6  outcomes, improve people's lives and reduce

          7  unknowing transmission of this disease.

          8                 Prior to the advent of rapid testing,

          9  HHC facilities were conducting approximately 50,000

         10  HIV tests per year, reaching about four percent of

         11  our patients.  Half of these tests were provided to

         12  pregnant women.  Almost all of the testing was

         13  conducted in our dedicated HIV clinics, with the

         14  exception of the testing that occurred in prenatal

         15  clinics.

         16                 With the Council's $3 million

         17  appropriation in Fiscal Year 2007, coupled with

         18  nearly $2 million in funding from the New York

         19  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, we were

         20  able to expand rapid testing in our eleven acute

         21  care facilities and our Diagnostic Treatment

         22  Centers.  Currently, ten of eleven emergency

         23  departments are providing rapid testing, and

         24  inpatient testing is being done at all of our acute

         25  care hospitals for either all new admissions or in
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          2  specific units.

          3                 Additionally, rapid testing is being

          4  offered at selected outpatient clinics.

          5                 In the first nine months of Fiscal

          6  Year 2006, I am happy to report that more than

          7  65,000 tests have been conducted. Our plan is to

          8  test nearly 100,000 individuals or eight percent of

          9  our patient population by the end of this fiscal

         10  year.  This would nearly double the number of tests

         11  being performed over the previous year's workload

         12  before the expansion of rapid testing. It is

         13  critical to maintain the resources that support the

         14  expansion of rapid HIV testing.  New York City

         15  continues to be the epicenter of the HIV/AIDS

         16  epidemic, and the number of people who do not know

         17  their status is estimated to be between 10,000 and

         18  40,000.

         19                 We are proud to have partnered with

         20  the Council on this endeavor, and are grateful to

         21  Speaker Quinn for her advocacy concerning rapid

         22  testing.

         23                 Another area in which HHC is working

         24  in concert with the Council is to improve health

         25  care access is on Staten Island.  To aid in this
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          2  effort, Mayor Bloomberg has dedicated $5.8 million

          3  over Fiscal Years 2006 and 2007 for our Staten

          4  Island initiatives.

          5                 There are three components.  The

          6  first component is the development of a multi- site

          7  community health center.  The first site will open

          8  in the Port Richmond neighborhood this summer.  The

          9  community health center will ultimately serve

         10  approximately 45,000 individuals on an annual basis,

         11  and will be operated by a newly created non- profit

         12  organization.

         13                 Over the past year, HHC has engaged

         14  dozens of Staten Island- based organizations and

         15  individuals representing health care consumers,

         16  DOHMH, the Mayor's Office, health care providers,

         17  federal, state and local elected officials,

         18  including Council Member Michael McMahon, the

         19  Community Board and others to assist us with putting

         20  this community health center together.

         21                 The second component of our Staten

         22  Island initiative is the Staten Island Health Access

         23  Program.  More than two dozen community physicians,

         24  the two Staten Island hospitals and more than 30

         25  pharmacies are currently funded to provide primary
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          2  care and other services, including access to

          3  prescription drugs to low- income and uninsured

          4  adults who do not qualify for Medicaid or other

          5  public health insurance programs.  To date, 1,361

          6  individuals have taken advantage of this creative

          7  program.

          8                 In addition, HHC has provided a small

          9  grant to the Jewish Community Center of Staten

         10  Island to assist low- income, uninsured Staten

         11  Island residents to obtain health insurance through

         12  Medicaid, EPIC, Child Health Plus and Family Health

         13  Plus. These public insurance programs are available

         14  to many Staten Island residents who may not know how

         15  to take advantage of these important resources.

         16                 Again, we would like to thank the

         17  Council for appropriating sufficient funds to

         18  support a large supplemental Medicaid payment from

         19  the State.  The New York State Department of Health

         20  has notified us that part of that payment, $715

         21  million, will be forthcoming tomorrow.  Over the

         22  next several months, the State will be making

         23  further installments on these payments as requisite

         24  statewide reconciliations are processed. As a net

         25  result, the Corporation will end Fiscal Year`06 with
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          2  this cash in hand which will be available to support

          3  Fiscal Year`07 budget.

          4                 That being said, the Corporation

          5  continues to face serious financial challenges.

          6  Taking Fiscal Year`07 and`07 together to account for

          7  this transaction, the Corporation's two year above

          8  the line deficit is $475 million.

          9                 Factors creating this gap include a

         10  27th payroll in FY 2006 which costs $70 million.  A

         11  Nurses' contract settlement that will cost

         12  approximately $55 million in Fiscal`07.  Fiscal`06

         13  collective bargaining payments for prior years which

         14  costs $122 million, including $42 million for the

         15  nurses settlement.  A two- year pension cost

         16  increase valued at $98 million.  An Employee Health

         17  Insurance two- year cost increase of over $80

         18  million, and a projected two- year cost increase for

         19  utilities of $50 million.

         20                 The Corporation is engaging the

         21  following efforts to close these gaps by continuing

         22  to lobby the State for HEAL- NY and F- SHARP

         23  funding.  Identifying and collecting revenue on

         24  behalf of outstanding Medicaid and Medicare appeals,

         25  fully implementing the Dietary Initiative, and
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          2  reducing medical malpractice costs with the

          3  continued improvements in risk management and

          4  consolidation of legal services from the State Law

          5  Department.

          6                 In light of HCC's challenging

          7  financial condition, we continue to be exempted from

          8  reductions in the Executive Budget.  However, to

          9  reiterate my comments from the Preliminary Budget

         10  Hearing, funding for several programs that were

         11  restored in last year's budget were not baselined.

         12  As a result, HHC will receive $26.4 million less in

         13  Fiscal Year`07 for the operation of the child health

         14  cad Communicare clinics, behavioral health programs,

         15  HIV and TB programs, as well as the pharmacy fee

         16  waiver program.  Specifically, $2.4 million less for

         17  the provision of waivers of the $10.00 outpatient

         18  pharmacy fee, $10.9 million

         19  less for substance abuse, mental health and mental

         20  retardation/developmental disabilities programs,

         21  $12.1 million less for the operation of child health

         22  clinics and Family Health/Communicare clinics, and

         23  $1 million less for HIV and TB services.

         24                 HHC has worked closely with the

         25  Council over the last several years in areas where
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          2  we receive support.  For example, last year, $12.1

          3  million in funding was placed in the budget to

          4  support the operations of our child health clinics.

          5  A work group was formed with the Council to identify

          6  ways to increase underserved children's access to

          7  primary services through these clinics.  The Council

          8  allocated $1.093 million for this child health

          9  clinic enhancement project.

         10                 There were four components to this

         11  joint HHC Council project:

         12                 The provision of grants of $25,000

         13  each to ten community- based organizations to

         14  conduct outreach and health and wellness seminars in

         15  17 high- need neighborhoods, to disseminate

         16  information about the services available at HHC's

         17  Child Health Clinics, and to assist Child Health

         18  Clinic staff by conducting follow- up with patients

         19  who miss appointments.

         20                 The implementation of a multilingual

         21  media campaign to promote awareness of HHC's Child

         22  Health Clinics, especially targeted to immigrant

         23  communities.  The radio spots will be aired between

         24  late summer and early September in time for the

         25  2006- 2007 school year.
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          2                 Installation of new signage at Child

          3  Health Clinics which are located at New York City

          4  Housing Authority sites.

          5                 Development and translation of

          6  brochures and other materials about HHC's Child

          7  Health Clinics, and the availability of services for

          8  children throughout HHC facilities.

          9                 We are optimistic that these efforts

         10  will result in great awareness among the targeted

         11  communities about the services at the Child Health

         12  Clinics, and in increased utilization over the next

         13  year for these clinics.  These clinics are an

         14  integral part of the Corporation's mission to

         15  provide comprehensive and patient- centered health

         16  services to communities we serve.  The clinics are

         17  located in either NYCHA buildings or DOHMH District

         18  Health Offices where the health care needs are the

         19  greatest.  They provide primary care, immunizations,

         20  walk- in care, public health, health promotion and

         21  disease prevention services.  Specialty services are

         22  provided by the network acute care hospital.  All

         23  Child Health Clinics have electronic medical

         24  records, and the clinical information system is

         25  linked to an acute care hospital or diagnostic and
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          2  treatment center to ensure continuity of care.

          3                 The 28 clinics are staffed by 40 FTE

          4  pediatricians and provide 101,000 visits.  It should

          5  be noted that most children are served at our

          6  hospital Diagnostic and Treatment Center, or

          7  Communicare sites.  Pediatric ambulatory care

          8  services provided by HHC in a recent quarter showed

          9  that four percent of HHC's patients under the age of

         10  19 were seen in these clinics, and 96 percent were

         11  seen in our hospitals' outpatient clinics or

         12  Diagnostic and Treatment Centers that include the

         13  Communicare sites.

         14                 Similarly, HHC has worked with the

         15  Council in prior years to increase patients'

         16  awareness of the availability of waivers of the

         17  $10.00 pharmacy administrative fee.  The Council

         18  provides $2.4 million to support our provision of

         19  these waives.  Over the years, we have worked with

         20  the Council to increase communities and patients'

         21  awareness of the waiver program.  For example, we

         22  installed flat panel screens in our outpatient

         23  pharmacy waiting areas, where there is limited wall

         24  space for signage to televise information in several

         25  languages about the availability of these waivers.
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          2                 As you know. Prescription drugs are

          3  very expensive.  We have taken many steps in recent

          4  years to control the costs of pharmaceuticals.

          5  However, HHC spent more than $110 million in 2005

          6  for outpatient pharmacy costs.  We receive less than

          7  20 percent of the cost in reimbursement.  Adding to

          8  our losses is the fact that HHC is the only hospital

          9  system in New York City to operate outpatient

         10  pharmacies.  We are grateful that the Council has

         11  recognized the importance of supporting our

         12  outpatient pharmacies, and the costs of providing

         13  pharmaceuticals to patients without insurance

         14  coverage for medications.

         15                 I should mention that we have been

         16  very active in informing our patients, and educating

         17  our staff about the Medicare Part D drug benefit

         18  program.  Multiple training sessions were conducted

         19  for HHC staff, including physicians.  Together with

         20  staff from the New York City Department for the

         21  Aging and from community- based organizations, we

         22  assisted eligible patients to wade though the

         23  complicated process of determining how best to

         24  benefit from this program.

         25                 On top of this, we opened out
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          2  pharmacies to these individuals that had Medicaid,

          3  and were auto- assigned into Medicare Park D plans

          4  and filed their prescriptions regardless of whether

          5  or not they had completed their enrollment forms in

          6  order to assist them during this transition.

          7                 Of the $10.9 million funding

          8  reduction for substance abuse, mental health and

          9  mental retardation/developmental disabilities

         10  programs that was not baselined this year, $4.7

         11  million is for HCC's Methadone Enhancement

         12  Initiative and Job Development Initiative.  The

         13  Methadone Enhancement Initiative was begun in 1999,

         14  and was targeted to HHC's seven methadone clinics.

         15  We had formerly received funding through the New

         16  York City Human Resources Administration for these

         17  programs.  Unfortunately, these funds are no longer

         18  available.

         19                 This program has improved clinical

         20  services through caseload reduction, increased case

         21  management, the development of a phased treatment

         22  system to better match patient needs with care, and

         23  the addition of group counseling sessions. It has

         24  improved vocational outcomes through the development

         25  of career centers, the hiring of vocational
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          2  rehabilitation councilors, the establishment of

          3  evening hours for working patients, and the adoption

          4  of techniques of motivational interviewing to

          5  encourage movement to self- sufficiency and

          6  employment, and it has helped patients attain

          7  abstinence through program improvements in patient

          8  assessment, the use of automated dispensing

          9  equipment, increased counseling support during

         10  tapering, and establishment of an aftercare track.

         11                 The funding for this initiative

         12  allowed for the hiring of 85 additional staff and

         13  significant enhancement of clinical services.  HHC's

         14  programs now provide an average of 4,200 individual

         15  counseling sessions, and over 375 group counseling

         16  sessions each month and have experienced

         17  significantly improved treatment outcomes in terms

         18  of retention and discontinues use of heroin and

         19  secondary substances.

         20                 Most significantly, in 1998

         21  approximately eight percent of HHC's methadone

         22  patients were employed, compared to the most recent

         23  quarter where 30 percent were working, and no longer

         24  reliant on public assistance.

         25                 In addition, each month approximately
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          2  80 patients are engaged in vocational services, 21

          3  attain work readiness status, and 19 became newly

          4  employed.  As a result, many of HHC's methadone

          5  patients are able to fulfill their WEP mandates with

          6  HRA, and ultimately move to full- time employment

          7  and self sufficiency.

          8                 The elimination of HHC's Methadone

          9  Enhancement Initiative would have a devastating

         10  impact upon the ability of HHC's Methadone Treatment

         11  Programs to continue providing these enhanced

         12  services, will negatively impact the quality of care

         13  provided, and significantly reduce the number of

         14  patients returned to self- sufficiency and

         15  employment.

         16                 In addition, the ability to taper

         17  patients seeking abstinence, on an outpatient basis,

         18  will be severely limited at a time when the State is

         19  moving to reduce inpatient detoxification services.

         20                 The loss of the Job Development

         21  Initiative would result in the elimination of the

         22  Corporation's nationally recognized contingency

         23  management program.  This innovative behavior

         24  modification program provides incentives and peer

         25  support on an immediate and ongoing basis to
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          2  patients in recognition of daily achievements,

          3  progress in treatment, and attainment of benchmarks.

          4    The initiative has resulted in significantly

          5  improved outcomes, particularly in terms of the

          6  enhancement of the therapeutic nature of the clinic

          7  environment; increased program participation and

          8  motivation to change negative behaviors; attain

          9  abstinence from heroin; gain employment and self

         10  sufficiency.

         11                 Job development outcomes vary among

         12  clinics based on the targeted objectives of their

         13  contingency management programs.  Programs are

         14  reporting an average 23 percent increase in

         15  treatment retention rates, a 22 percent increase in

         16  the rate of discontinued us of substances, a 29

         17  percent increase in the number of patients attending

         18  counseling groups, a 39 percent increase in patients

         19  engaged in vocational rehabilitation groups, a 40

         20  percent increase in the number of patients becoming

         21  work ready, an increase of a 35 percent in patients

         22  obtaining employment, and a 28 percent increasing

         23  job retention.

         24                 Continued support of these programs

         25  also enables HHC to serve the growing number of
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          2  individuals with co-occurring mental illness and

          3  chemical dependencies.  It is estimated that more

          4  than 50 percent of individuals served in mental

          5  health programs also suffer from a drug or alcohol

          6  dependency.  These resources enable HHC to help

          7  individuals to reduce their reliance on public

          8  benefit programs and become self- sufficient New

          9  Yorkers.

         10                 This concludes my written testimony.

         11  I now look forward to listening to your comments and

         12  answering your questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         14  President Aviles. We have been joined by a number of

         15  council members, so we are just going to re-

         16  introduce everyone, whether they were introduced

         17  before you came or not.

         18                 We have Council Member Miguel

         19  Martinez from Manhattan in the front, Council Member

         20  Oliver Koppell from the Bronx, Council Member Yvette

         21  Clarke from Brooklyn, Council Member Bill DeBlasio

         22  from Brooklyn, Council Member Alan Gerson from

         23  Manhattan, our Minority Leader, Councilman Jim Oddo

         24  from Staten Island, Council Member Mike McMahon from

         25  Staten Island, you heard Chair Sears introduced,
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          2  David Weprin and Chair Rivera, Council Member Rosie

          3  Mendez from Manhattan, Council Member Maria Carmen

          4  Arroyo from the Bronx, Council Member Inez Dickens

          5  from Manhattan, Council Member Robert Jackson from

          6  Manhattan.

          7                 You referred, and I know a number of

          8  members want to ask questions and we have a pretty

          9  good turnout of members, so I guess be prepared.  In

         10  any case, you referred in your testimony to the

         11  cutbacks from Albany and Washington, I guess in

         12  particular, the Governor's Medicaid proposal, which

         13  obviously has actually, significantly impacted

         14  Health and Hospitals more than we had actually

         15  thought.  We thought it was somewhere in the range

         16  of $140 to $170 million, I believe you testified

         17  that it is about $185 million.

         18                 What is the game plan or contingency

         19  plan to help you in that effort to fight for, other

         20  than joining the lawsuit possibly, but what can we

         21  do together, or what are you doing to try to recoup

         22  that money and then, first the Albany and then we

         23  will deal with Washington?

         24                 MR. AVILES:  Well we have throughout

         25  this process engaged our community advisory boards
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          2  and community- based organizations who advocate on

          3  the behalf of the health of our- in order to make

          4  the case as strongly as possible in Albany.

          5  Obviously that case was made to the legislature, it

          6  still needs to made, apparently, to the Governor.

          7                 We welcome any and all support in

          8  terms of putting pressure on the Governor, and

          9  really driving home the message of how devastating

         10  these proposed cuts would be, particularly to

         11  SafetyNet providers across our City and our State.

         12                 We continue to work closely with the

         13  trade associations, including Greater New York and

         14  Heineys (phonetic) in terms of both their advocacy

         15  efforts, and efforts to engage in fruitful

         16  negotiation, but also in terms of support for the

         17  litigation that has now been filed by Greater New

         18  York and will shortly be filed by Heineys.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay as you

         20  know, we are going to adopt our budget in June.  It

         21  sounds to me like the Albany situation is going to

         22  go well beyond the end of June.

         23                 Are you asking for anything to be

         24  done in this budget process to alleviate that

         25  situation, or is it basically something that we
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          2  might deal with the budget modification later on?

          3                 MS. BROWN:  The truth is the State

          4  has not yet actually implemented the cuts as a

          5  matter of practice.  So there is still the dispute

          6  as to whether they are, in fact in law, they are not

          7  the actual rates that are being paid.  So, that buys

          8  us a little bit of time, perhaps until the November

          9  plan, to have to deal with the actual state budget

         10  because the state has not actually cut the rates.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, so it is

         12  probably something we can deal with later on if we

         13  have to in a budget modification at the end of the

         14  year I guess.

         15                 MS. BROWN:  Correct.

         16                 MR. AVILES:  That is correct.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, what about

         18  the Washington situation, can you tell us what the

         19  effect is on Washington dollar- wise, and what can

         20  we do about that?

         21                 MR. AVILES:  Thusfar, the lobbying

         22  efforts have been fairly successful in pushing back

         23  initial proposals that would have impacted us.  We

         24  continue to watch that situation closely, but at

         25  least for the moment, there does not seem to be
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          2  support for the President's original proposals,

          3  which would have deeply cut into both Medicaid and

          4  Medicare.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, well I am

          6  happy about that.

          7                 As you know, it is not just in the

          8  health and hospitals area but in general, New York

          9  City sends about $18 billion more to Albany and

         10  Washington than we get back in services.

         11                 So, this is another area that kind of

         12  highlights that inequity, and the more we drive that

         13  home, obviously the federal government just stuck it

         14  to us in the area of Homeland Security.  There seems

         15  to be a pattern here, but hopefully, together we can

         16  fight the good fight.

         17                 I know a lot of my colleagues want to

         18  ask questions, and I see we have been joined by

         19  Council Member Lew Fidler from Brooklyn behind me.

         20                 I am going to turn it over to my co-

         21  chair, our Majority Leader, Council Member Joel

         22  Rivera.

         23                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you

         24  very much.

         25                 President Aviles, thank you very
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          2  much, and to your team, thank you for joining us

          3  here today.

          4                 I just wanted to open up with a

          5  couple of questions.

          6                 This weekend there was an article in

          7  one of our main newspaper that describes how the

          8  health and hospitals does not receive the complete

          9  cost of care provided to those who are uninsured or

         10  underinsured under the New York State Bad Debt and

         11  Charity Care Pool.

         12                 Could you please tell the council

         13  what percentage of HHC's costs are actually covered

         14  by this State pool?

         15                 Also, please describe what barriers

         16  exist at the City's public hospitals from being

         17  reimbursed for the full cost of the charity care

         18  provided?

         19                 I did see in the article that some of

         20  the private hospitals received a substantial amount

         21  more than what HHC was receiving, so I just wanted

         22  to find out what that disparity was due to.

         23                 MR. AVILES:  I will let our Chief

         24  Financial Officer respond to the in detail.  But in

         25  general, the reimbursement the hospitals across the
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          2  state for what is termed`bad debt and charity care'

          3  is fairly complicated and fragmented, so there

          4  actually are two pools that have been established in

          5  Albany.  One is dedicated solely to the voluntary

          6  hospitals, the other is dedicated essentially to

          7  public hospitals.

          8                 So, comparing the two is not exactly

          9  a precise telling of the entire story, and it is

         10  true that the public system does receive certain

         11  other support for indigent care that is not

         12  available to the voluntary system.

         13                 Nonetheless, it is troubling that the

         14  statistics that were reflected, both in the

         15  newspaper over the weekend and in a report issued by

         16  the Commission on the public's health system seemed

         17  to raise a serious question about whether or not the

         18  pool dollars that are allocated on the voluntary

         19  system side are actually being distributed in a way

         20  that correlates with the actual service to uninsured

         21  patients.

         22                 Ms. Zurach.

         23                 MS. ZURACH:  HHC receives $98 million

         24  from the Bad Debt and Charity Care Pools, and let me

         25  just let the committee know and Council Member Sears
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          2  and I have discussed this many times at prior

          3  hearings, that these are called bad debt and charity

          4  care pools, which means they recompense hospitals

          5  both for their bad debts and for their charity care.

          6    Bad debts are patients who did not pay their

          7  bills, regardless of whether they were wealthy or

          8  not.  Charity care implies a process whereby

          9  patients have their fees reduced because of income.

         10                 Now, we have come to this Body to

         11  talk about our HHC Options Program which is

         12  certainly the most generous charity care program in

         13  the city in which we clearly do provide a

         14  significant level of charity care.

         15                 That being said, if you use the

         16  measure that the state uses which is bad debt and

         17  charity care together, HHC receives 25 percent of

         18  its Bad Debt and Charity Care need, which is the $98

         19  million.  The voluntaries on average received 65

         20  percent of their Bad Debt and Charity Care need.

         21  The reasoning being that since we do receive as a

         22  public facility support from the City, we were not

         23  as generously rewarded out of the pools as our

         24  voluntary colleagues are.

         25                 I believe that answers your question.
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          2                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yes pretty

          3  much.

          4                 Also, I just wanted to mention that

          5  we have heard from some constituents in my district

          6  and all across the City, that they have been billed

          7  for services rendered in the hospitals, even though

          8  the hospitals may have received the money from the

          9  Bad Debt and Charity, and that has come under the

         10  term of double billing.

         11                 Do we have a sense of which hospitals

         12  have done that?

         13                 Has there been a report issued to

         14  that effect to highlight that?

         15                 MS. ZURACH:  Not to my knowledge.

         16  There are always very complicated circumstances.  We

         17  do get phone calls even at HHC, and we clarify and

         18  correct those errors if they do occur.

         19                 MR. AVILES:  Yes, I think those

         20  errors hopefully do not occur too often in our

         21  system, but we do 5 million outpatient visits a

         22  year, so even if you are down to 99.9 percent doing

         23  it right, that .1 percent in that large a number

         24  does create some issues that obviously we take

         25  seriously.
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          2                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, just a

          3  couple of more questions.

          4                 I just want to commend the HHC for

          5  their efforts in reaching out to the immigrant

          6  community.  This is an important step in reducing

          7  health care barriers.

          8                 With that being said, I just wanted

          9  to find out with the TEMIS Program will it be made

         10  available in Russian Ridge, for example, there is a

         11  large population in Coney Island.

         12                 MR. AVILES:  We do constantly look at

         13  which languages to expand to next.  I should say

         14  that TEMIS is not our only available tool for

         15  telephonic interpretation.

         16                 We also have two contracts with

         17  telephone interpretation services, both of which

         18  provide over 100 languages, including Russian.  In

         19  those facilities that use that telephonic

         20  interpretation alternative, they generally have two

         21  dual handset telephones that allow the physician to

         22  talk on one, and the patient to talk on the other.

         23                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, and

         24  last by not least, I just want to mention that the

         25  Health Committee has heard over the past couple of
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          2  months about a very innovative thing called the

          3  Smart Card, and how it helps to save dollars because

          4  of the fact that testing is astronomical and if we

          5  can reduce the amount of testing because of the

          6  Smart Cards, that makes a lot of sense.  I know it

          7  is available in Elmhurst Hospital.  I just wanted to

          8  find out if HHC has any plans to expand it outside

          9  of Elmhurst, and to make it a citywide type of

         10  initiative.

         11                 MR. AVILES:  We are looking very

         12  seriously at expanding that across the system.  We

         13  continue to expand that program in Queens.  I am

         14  actually very pleased to report that we were one of

         15  the grant recipients in terms of the HEAL dollars

         16  that were recently distributed to support these

         17  kinds of innovative initiatives around clinical

         18  information and the exchange of that electronic

         19  data.  So we will be using

         20  that.

         21                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  That is

         22  Helen Sears.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Council Member

         24  Sears has a Smart Card.  I am not surprised.

         25                 MR. AVILES:  I carry one in my wallet
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          2  as well since I use Elmhurst Hospital for my primary

          3  care.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  I will selling

          5  this to the press for any--.

          6                 MR. AVILES:  But it is--.

          7                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  No, we will

          8  not be selling private information yet, council

          9  member.

         10                 MR. AVILES:  It is a very innovative

         11  program, and it has an imbedded chip which allows us

         12  to download a certain amount of information for each

         13  patient, including their drug allergies, the

         14  prescriptions that they are on, their recent lab

         15  test results.

         16                 We are working on compressing an EKG

         17  image to put that on there as well, so that if one

         18  of our patients winds up in another emergency

         19  department elsewhere in the borough of Queens, that

         20  information is readily available.

         21                 The reader that allows other

         22  hospitals to read this information costs $20.00, we

         23  distribute it to them free of charge.  They just

         24  plug it into the USB port of any computer in their

         25  emergency department and they can read that card.
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          2                 CO- CHAIRPERSON:  Yes, and we just

          3  have to find a way to make sure that all hospitals

          4  can run under a uniform program because I know one

          5  of the problems with the technology is that not

          6  every single hospital is uniform in the types of

          7  programs they utilize to read this technology.

          8                 So, hopefully one day in the near

          9  future we will be able to get everybody under the

         10  same system.

         11                 Last statement pretty much, I just

         12  want to state that this does mark the 25th year of

         13  HIV and AIDS, and I want to commend you on your

         14  efforts to make sure we can test 100,000 patients by

         15  the end of this fiscal year.  That is a doubling as

         16  you stated within your testimony, and I want to

         17  challenge you to even double that for the next

         18  fiscal year.  You are a victim of your own success,

         19  and hopefully, we can really make more strides in

         20  the field of HIV and AIDS because we have learned a

         21  lot over the past 25 years.  We have come a world

         22  away but we are not there yet, and we need to make

         23  sure that we get the information and educate the

         24  people out there about how dangerous this epidemic

         25  is, it is still an epidemic, and it is even getting
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          2  worse in some cases because 50 percent of new cases

          3  do come from the younger population because they do

          4  not understand the dangers affiliated with it.  We

          5  here it all of the time, I know my colleague Council

          6  Member Arroyo hears it all the time where children

          7  just think you just pop a couple of pills and you

          8  will be okay, and that is not the case.

          9                 Unfortunately, they feel that way

         10  because they did not grow up during an age where

         11  they saw the headlines where people were blistering

         12  up in hospitals and there was no cocktails available

         13  to them.

         14                 So, I want to commend you on your

         15  fine work, and just challenge you to double the

         16  efforts to make sure we can try to curb the new

         17  infections happening every single year, and to

         18  identify the 10 to 40,000 individuals who have it

         19  but do not know.

         20                 Thank you.

         21                 MR. AVILES:  We will accept that

         22  challenge.  We will set that goal.

         23                 We welcome, of course, the City

         24  Council's restoration of the funds that helped us to

         25  get where we are today, but we certainly agree that
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          2  more can and should be done. We are going to try our

          3  best to do that.

          4                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  This council

          5  is going to continue to be a good partner with HHC

          6  on this endeavor.

          7                 I know my colleagues have some

          8  questions so we will turn it over to Council Member

          9  Sears.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER WEPRIN:  Yes, we have

         11  also been joined by Council Member, Doctor, Kendall

         12  Stewart.

         13                 Chair Sears.

         14                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay, thank

         15  you very much, and it is good to see you.  I shall

         16  be very brief because we do have a large attendance.

         17                 First I want to say I thank you and

         18  the entire HHC organization for the incredible work

         19  that they do, and I have to tell my colleagues, if

         20  you do not have one of these, that means you should

         21  all look to the HHC for your health care.  You are

         22  making a big mistake because they do superb work,

         23  and it is advanced technology.  I can tell you that.

         24    It looks like a credit card, does it not?  It will

         25  just tell you everything about yourself, very
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          2  confidentially.  So you cannot beat that.

          3                 I have just a few questions but first

          4  I wanted to ask about the translations on page five

          5  of your testimony that we passed in the City Council

          6  sometime, I think it was last year in the Health

          7  Committee, about some of the languages that the

          8  pamphlets had to be translated in terms of the

          9  health plans that were available to them.

         10                 Is this going on now?  Is this being

         11  done do you know?  Because I think we may have even

         12  allocated dollars for that, recognizing that that

         13  was going to be an additional cost.

         14                 MS. BROWN:  Yes, that legislation was

         15  directed to the Department of Health, City

         16  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene.

         17                 That being said, HHC translates all

         18  of our patient information materials, including the

         19  forms that are required for patient approval of

         20  their services in many, many languages. Those forms

         21  are on an LET website in our Internet system that

         22  are available to be downloaded by all of our

         23  physicians and other staff, and are made available

         24  on a request basis by the hospital staff, again, in

         25  the top languages that are spoken by the patients of
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          2  the facilities.

          3                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  So the staff

          4  at the hospitals are able to really do those?

          5                 MS. BROWN:  Yes, they are aware of

          6  all of the patient education, the patient forms, and

          7  what languages they are available in, and they can

          8  literally pull them out of our Internet system and

          9  make them available for the patients and for their

         10  uses.

         11                 MR. AVILES:  They are actually in PDF

         12  file format, so it is our top 14 languages.  Any of

         13  these forms can be downloaded in any of those 14

         14  languages, printed right in the exam room off the

         15  local printer and used with the patients.

         16                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  All right.  A

         17  question about Staten Island that you are opening

         18  these facilities.

         19                 How will you go about in the

         20  facilities of enlisting people in the various health

         21  programs- because you have been very successful at

         22  reducing the numbers of uninsured with a great

         23  effort, is that going to take place on Staten Island

         24  in your free- standing facilities?

         25                 MR. AVILES:  Well, certainly the new
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          2  Federally Qualified Health Center will have the same

          3  type of financial counseling infrastructure that we

          4  us at our hospitals in all of our community- based

          5  sites that are intended to help all patients who

          6  could conceivably be linked to insurance programs to

          7  be so linked.

          8                 As I mentioned, in an interim basis

          9  we also have funded a community- based organization

         10  that are due facilitator enrollment now so that more

         11  patients on Staten Island who are eligible for

         12  public insurance programs but who are not enrolled,

         13  can become enrolled.

         14                 MS. BROWN:  The community health

         15  center of Richmond is a independent, not- for-

         16  profit organization.  It is not HHC, Council Member

         17  Sears.

         18                 We with Council Member McMahon have

         19  been nurturing it but it will be an independent

         20  operated community health center.  We will be

         21  assisting that organization.  We are applying to

         22  become a Federally Qualified Health Center this

         23  summer but as a health center, a diagnostic

         24  treatment center, approved by the New York State

         25  Department of Health, and ultimately as a Federally
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          2  Qualified Health Center, they are also required to

          3  provide fee scale in terms of helping people in

          4  determining not only whether they are eligible for

          5  the public governmental insurance programs, but also

          6  in assisting those individuals based on income and

          7  family size as to what they might be able to afford

          8  to pay.

          9                 In addition as President Aviles

         10  mentioned, the Staten Island Jewish Community

         11  Services has a facilitated enrollment grant from the

         12  State which is augmented through a small grant by

         13  HHC, and we anticipate that that organization, as

         14  with some other organizations on Staten Island,

         15  there will be continued efforts to engage people in

         16  obtaining the governmental health insurance

         17  programs.

         18                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  All right, I

         19  will leave the rest of Staten Island to my

         20  colleagues from there because I do not know what

         21  affiliations HHC has with the few hospital

         22  facilities that are on Staten Island, and if you do

         23  not, then I think there is a strong- I can

         24  understand the outcry because you need to have some

         25  primary care facilities on Staten Island.
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          2                 So, do you have any plans for those?

          3                 MR. AVILES:  Well, that is precisely

          4  why we have been working on the Federally Qualified

          5  Health Center model.  The goal is to create what is

          6  called a Federated Model of a Federally Qualified

          7  Health Center that would allow us to receive some

          8  additional support for a center that is likely to

          9  have a pretty high percentage of uninsured patients.

         10

         11                 As Ms. Brown indicated, because it is

         12  a Federally Qualified Health Center it needs to be

         13  free standing, it needs to have its own board that

         14  is independent and a majority of the board members

         15  need to be actual consumers of the health center but

         16  we are committed to supporting not just the

         17  development of this health center, but also the

         18  sustaining of this health center, and that is why we

         19  have made a certain amount of investment, about $3.5

         20  million thus far, in order to get it up and running.

         21                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay, thank

         22  you.

         23                 One question on the Task Force, if

         24  you can just state for the Finance Committee and the

         25  Health and that, with the proposed closing of
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          2  hospitals by the 21 Century Commission, formed by

          3  the Governor, what impact- if we have a loss of

          4  hospital capacity- what impact does that place on

          5  you, particularly in terms of mental health?

          6                 What kind of strain and stress does

          7  that create, and what kind of additional financial

          8  budget is there to deal with that?

          9                 MR. AVILES:  Well, we are very

         10  concerned about that.  We have had a number of

         11  discussions with the Commission's executive

         12  director, David Sam and his staff, as well as Mr.

         13  Berger himself.

         14                 One of the issues really is around

         15  behavioral health services, and the fact that across

         16  the City most of the behavioral health programs, the

         17  inpatient programs, are operating at full capacity,

         18  certainly ours are operating at full capacity, and

         19  some of the hospitals who may be viewed as

         20  vulnerable, especially because they serve

         21  communities with a disproportionate number uninsured

         22  patients, if they were to close, and we have seen

         23  some of that happen already, we loose not only the

         24  med/surg capacity but also the behavioral health

         25  capacity, and there is no real flexibility in the
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          2  system at the present moment to meet that need if we

          3  wind up taking behavioral health beds out of the

          4  system in the process of some of these hospitals

          5  potentially closing.

          6                 So we certainly have had some very

          7  preliminary discussions with the State Department of

          8  Health about our willingness to add behavioral

          9  health beds in particular, where that is calculated

         10  to meet community need, and we certainly have

         11  stressed the importance to keep this high on the

         12  radar screen of the Commission as they look at this

         13  very complex issue of a potential downsizing or

         14  restructuring portions of the system.

         15                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  The last

         16  question, do you see the possibilities of those

         17  delivering the care for mental health, with this

         18  pressure of these hospitals closing, to place in

         19  jeopardy some of the licenses for some of those

         20  facilities that do provide that mental health care?

         21                 MR. AVILES:  I do not think so.  That

         22  really has not been something that we consider to be

         23  a threat in this context.

         24                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  All right,

         25  thank you very much.  I thank you for everything,
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          2  truly.

          3                 MR. AVILES:  Thank you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you Chair

          5  Sears.

          6                 Council Member Arroyo.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Thank you,

          8  Mr. Chair.

          9                 Welcome, always nice to see you

         10  LaRay.

         11                 I would like to go with the

         12  sentiments of some of my colleagues already.

         13  Congratulations on your successes.

         14                 In my opinion, and it is a little bit

         15  biased but I believe that the HHC system has got to

         16  be the best health care system in the world, staffed

         17  by incredible, dedicated professionals.  So,

         18  congratulations.

         19                 Following along the line of Council

         20  Member Rivera's questions or statements about the

         21  HIV epidemic in our communities, we will fight to

         22  restore the funding for the rapid testing, and you

         23  testified that it is being offered in selected

         24  outpatients clinics.

         25                 So where is that, and are there any
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          2  plans to design outreach targeted programs for

          3  adolescents who are doing what they do and putting

          4  themselves at risk?

          5                 Can you share?

          6                 MR. AVILES:  The way we have rolled

          7  this out is we have essentially given our individual

          8  facilities a certain amount of discretion and

          9  flexibility.  We basically have said the ultimate

         10  goal is to try an normalize HIV testing.  That

         11  ultimately we should be testing for HIV as we do for

         12  many other things because there are so many patients

         13  who are at risk, who do not perceived themselves as

         14  being in a high risk category.  So, it really varies

         15  from facility to facility in terms of the plan that

         16  they have put together.

         17                 Certainly, adolescent clinics are

         18  viewed as one of the areas to focus on.  Some of our

         19  facilities have elected to roll it out there.  The

         20  attempt is to use this initial period to really

         21  allow the facilities to do this at a variety of

         22  different settings, then to analyze the data in

         23  terms of where do we get the greatest yield, and

         24  where are we best off investing the dollars in terms

         25  of doing the additional testing.
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          2                 Obviously, at some point we would

          3  love to be in a position where we could in all of

          4  our primary care clinics, especially incorporate

          5  rapid testing into those 1.8 million primary care

          6  visits that we do, so that all of our patients will

          7  know their status.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ARROYO:  Well, I would

          9  encourage you to take this challenge on as well.

         10  You have an incredible, professional staff, and

         11  those who continually talk to us about the issues

         12  and the needs, and I think we need to be more

         13  specific about the intentions, and the outreach, and

         14  the services to the young people in our communities

         15  as it relates to HIV, to get them tested, identify

         16  their status, get them into care as soon as

         17  possible, because we are going to confront a

         18  different animal in this epidemic in another ten

         19  years when these 14- year- olds who are not tested,

         20  we do not know what their status is, and are not

         21  seeking care, are going to be very, very sick and

         22  your system is the one that is going to have to

         23  confront that challenge.

         24                 So, Christine Quinn says the best

         25  time to fix the roof is when the sun is shining.
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          2                 Let us get it done now so that in ten

          3  years we are better prepared to deal with what is

          4  going to come our way.

          5                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

          7  council member.

          8                 Council Member Martinez.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you,

         10  Mr. Chair.

         11                 Good morning, Mr. President.

         12                 MR. AVILES:  Good morning.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Well first

         14  of all, I want to commend you on your effort on

         15  behalf of the immigrant communities to ensure that

         16  they know that the doors to our public health

         17  facilities are still open to them, and they should

         18  walk in there without any fear of receiving

         19  services.  So, I want to commend you for that, and

         20  also for setting the example, I know we are having

         21  this struggle in the hospital that is in my

         22  district. Unfortunately, it is not part of the HHC,

         23  it is a private sector in which we are asking for

         24  efficient translation services.  So, I want to also

         25  thank you for setting an example for those services
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          2  needed.

          3                 I wanted to draw your attention to-

          4  you said that the total amount of money that you

          5  will be receiving less is 26.4, which all 26.4 are

          6  council initiatives, or council funded programs,

          7  correct?

          8                 MR. AVILES:  That is correct.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  And has the

         10  Administration said anything in terms of why they do

         11  not feel these programs or these dollars should be

         12  baselined?

         13                 MR. AVILES:  These have not been

         14  baselined for quite some time.  We have not had

         15  recent discussions about that topic.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  But in

         17  other words, as the Council moved forward under the

         18  new leadership of Council Member Quinn, we are

         19  trying to make sure that programs such as these that

         20  are vital to our community, and the Council cares

         21  for, and I appreciate the fact that in your

         22  statement you are up front about the importance of

         23  the money and these programs being funded, we

         24  usually do not get that and Chairman Weprin points

         25  that out all of the time.  We usually go not get
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          2  that frankness from other representatives of

          3  agencies when it comes to the monies that the

          4  Council puts forward, and you do come up clearly

          5  stating that these monies are important and vital

          6  for services in our community, and yet the

          7  Administration did not go ahead and put these monies

          8  in the baseline, in the budget, there is no

          9  communication in terms of why they feel these

         10  dollars, these programs should not be baselined?

         11                 MR. AVILES:  I have not had any

         12  recent conversations with OMB or anybody else in the

         13  Administration about these particular restorations.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  I also want

         15  to draw your attention, as you know, my public

         16  hospital is Harlem Hospital, and I represent the

         17  northern part with Council Member Jackson, I cannot

         18  leave him out.  With Council Member Jackson, we

         19  represent the most northern part of Manhattan and

         20  what we have up there is the clinic, the Clinica Los

         21  America (phonetic), part of the Renazon (phonetic)

         22  Network, and you also highlight that, I believe it

         23  is 12- they would be receiving $12 million less.

         24                 Is that right in terms of the

         25  clinics?
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          2                 MR. AVILES:  In terms of the child

          3  health clinics?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Are those

          5  cuts or--?

          6                 MR. AVILES:  The child health

          7  clinics, yes these are cuts that go back quite a few

          8  years.  They were part of the PEG process, and the

          9  City Department of Health, sort of, passed those

         10  cuts on to us, and that is the origin of those cuts.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  In other

         12  words, so these are not new cuts?

         13                 MR. AVILES:  No, no.

         14                 MS. BROWN:  During prior budgets

         15  many, many years ago when there was really

         16  significant gaps in the city budget, the Department

         17  of Health, the Department of Mental Health and also

         18  HRA made certain cuts to some longstanding programs

         19  at HHC that were funded through the IntraCity

         20  mechanism, and those cuts, this was in very, very

         21  austere times, were restored each year one year at a

         22  time by the Council.  And that is why they are not

         23  baselined because they really do come in the Adopted

         24  Budget process, and they were difficult choices that

         25  were made many, many years ago.  I think they
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          2  started in 2002 or 2003, is when you started to see

          3  these cuts.

          4                 What happened was those agencies had

          5  very large targets.  They cut a lot of things in

          6  those days, and thankfully, the Council understood

          7  the importance of these programs, and the Council

          8  restored them in each Adopted Budget process.

          9                 We are actually asking you to do it

         10  again.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Thank you

         12  for clearing that up.

         13                 Now, when you mention in the clinics

         14  that you are looking to put the, I believe you said

         15  a screen, is that an electronic screen in the NYCHA

         16  facilities?

         17                 MR. AVILES:  That is signage.  One of

         18  the issues has been particularly in the NYCHA

         19  facilities, that the child health clinics have not

         20  been visible enough to the communities, so that some

         21  members of the community do not even realize that we

         22  have child health clinics embedded in some of the

         23  housing developments.  So, one of the approaches has

         24  been to create much more visible signage for those

         25  clinics to raise the awareness of the community,
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          2  that that resource is there for their use.

          3                 MS. BROWN:  And that is also is not

          4  exclusive to the residents of the NYCHA site.

          5                 What we have heard from our community

          6  consumers, as well as child health advocates is that

          7  in many of the neighborhoods, the neighborhoods have

          8  changed, and so folks who have used those sites for

          9  generations might have moved out of the development,

         10  and the newcomers may not know, as the President

         11  says, that those sites continue to exist, continue

         12  to be available for children, and continue to be

         13  available for children without regard to their

         14  ability to pay.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARTINEZ:  Well, I

         16  want to thank you for listening to that because I

         17  know that under Mr. Sanchez, Jose Sanchez, we had a

         18  discussion about changing, not changing but adding

         19  the name Clinca Los America to the Renazon for the

         20  same reason you just highlighted, and many of my

         21  constituents, new arrivals, were under the

         22  assumption that this was a day care center at that

         23  NYCHA facility.

         24                 Once we changed the name, we have an

         25  increase, but I think if we go ahead with this new
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          2  initiative we will see a further enrollment and an

          3  increase of people using the facility.

          4                 I also want to thank you for the work

          5  you do, and always making your staff accessible for

          6  many questions that come up when we are dealing with

          7  health issues, especially in our public facilities

          8  and our clinics.

          9                 So thank you, Mr. Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you

         11  council member.

         12                 Council Member McMahon.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  Thank you,

         14  Mr. Chairman.

         15                 President Aviles, you know that, I am

         16  sure you know in what direction my questions are

         17  going to take because I only wish that the people of

         18  Staten Island had the ability to know what a Smart

         19  Card is.

         20                 My only wish that the people of

         21  Staten Island had the ability to develop the

         22  fondness for the HHC Health Care system that Council

         23  Members Arroyo and Martinez have.

         24                 I am going to ask their indulgence as

         25  we go over a few of the things that Staten Islanders
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          2  are shortchanged in that it does not have an HHC

          3  facility.

          4                 Before I do that, let me express our

          5  gratitude for the work that has been done by Ms.

          6  Brown, and the people in your office to get the FQHC

          7  look- a- like facility started.

          8                 But Council Member Sears is

          9  absolutely correct as came out in her discussion

         10  with LaRay Brown, that this is not going to be an

         11  HHC facility that you are helping start it, it is a

         12  one or two time appropriation of funds, and that is

         13  it.  Right? It is your hope that that will sustain

         14  itself, it will fund itself, and will continue to

         15  provide a service that the people of Staten Island

         16  need but not a service that is directly provided by

         17  HHC.

         18                 MR. AVILES:  Well, it remains to be

         19  seen just whether or not that center can be

         20  sustained without some deficit funding because it

         21  does appear that it will serve a significant

         22  percentage of uninsured patients, even with the

         23  federal assistance that FQHC has received.

         24                 We may not be able to bring it to

         25  break even,
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          2  so--.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  So, it is

          4  your hope that it will, number A--.

          5                 MR. AVILES:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  And B, are

          7  you committing to provide the supplemental funding

          8  necessary to keep it operating with the scope and

          9  breath as a multi- site facility, as you described

         10  it here to my colleagues?

         11                 MR. AVILES:  Well, I think that it

         12  would be premature for me to make that ironclad

         13  commitment at this moment, but certainly we are

         14  committed to seeing this succeed.

         15                 So, one way or another we want to

         16  make sure that this is a viable site that we can

         17  continue to build upon it, and so, we are going to

         18  try and do whatever it takes to get there.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  So it is

         20  yes on the A, and maybe on the B?

         21                 Yes, you want it to be self

         22  sustaining and B, if it is not maybe you will

         23  consider making up the deficit.

         24                 MR. AVILES:  We will consider making

         25  up the deficit, yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  Okay but

          3  this is a FQHC health clinic, similar to clinics

          4  that already exist in the other boroughs, is that

          5  correct?

          6                 MR. AVILES:  That is correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  So, if this

          8  is still not meeting the need that Staten Islanders

          9  have by the fact that they do not have an HHC health

         10  care facility on Staten Island, is that correct?

         11                 MR. AVILES:  Well actually, FQHC has

         12  performed exactly the role that our community- based

         13  sites perform.  I mean, I would say we have a common

         14  mission and we often share our patients even.

         15                 So, this is just another way of

         16  meeting that need, which hopefully will allow us to

         17  do that in the most cost effective way possible so

         18  that we could use the funds available to expand it

         19  to as many patients as we can possibly serve.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  But it is

         21  only one facet of the health care services that are

         22  provided by HHC to the other people in the other

         23  four boroughs.

         24                 Staten Island has no hospital, Staten

         25  Island does not have all the other services that are
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          2  provided, so this is not meeting that overall need.

          3                 It is one specific area, is not that

          4  correct?

          5                 MR. AVILES:  It is focusing on

          6  primary care, and outpatient care generally.  We

          7  have as you may know, I am sure you do know, we have

          8  contracted with both of the hospitals to try and

          9  help make sure that patients who are served through

         10  this interim Seahop (phonetic) program that we have

         11  set up involving community physicians have access to

         12  some specialty care services as well.

         13                 It is true that there is not an HHC

         14  acute care facility on the Island, that goes back to

         15  the days when the HHC system was created.  Staten

         16  Island demographically presented a different

         17  situation there.  It also presented a different

         18  situation in terms of its health care

         19  infrastructure, there was some five hospitals on the

         20  Island of relatively low percentage of low- income,

         21  uninsured patients.  That clearly is changing and we

         22  understand that, and it is one of the reasons why we

         23  are trying to now focus on what the appropriate role

         24  is for HHC to play to meet the growing health care

         25  needs on the Island.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  But what I

          3  am trying to get you and my colleagues to understand

          4  that those much appreciated steps that you outlined

          5  are simply a drop in the bucket compared to the need

          6  and the inequity that exists, compared to services

          7  that are available to other New Yorkers, which I

          8  would like to if I could just outline for you

          9  briefly. And the thing you should know, and I am

         10  sure Ms. Brown conveyed this from the last hearing.

         11                 The thing that has put me over the

         12  top is the SART, the Sexual Assault Response Team

         13  Program.  In every other borough rape victims can

         14  avail themselves of the SART Program, Staten

         15  Islanders cannot.

         16                 How are you addressing that inequity?

         17                 MR. AVILES:  Well the SART Program is

         18  not a program that just was developed throughout the

         19  City overnight. We began in the Bronx, we moved to

         20  Brooklyn, we have just expanded it to Manhattan and

         21  Queens.  We have had some contact with the Office of

         22  the Criminal Justice coordinator, which is really

         23  the office that has supplied us with the

         24  supplemental funding that has allowed us to convert

         25  our SAFE Programs, which refers to the fact that we
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          2  have staff who are certified in sexual assault,

          3  forensic examiners.  What SART does is to create a

          4  team that includes forensic examiners, includes rape

          5  counselors, and makes them available 24 hours, seven

          6  days a week, so that rape victims can be assured

          7  that that team will be in place and on site to

          8  address their needs within 60 minutes of their

          9  presenting in an emergency department.

         10                 On Staten Island, St. Vincent's does

         11  have sexual assault forensic examiners that are

         12  certified, and I do not know what the current status

         13  is of the discussions between the Criminal Justice

         14  Coordinators Office and St. Vincent's.  I certainly

         15  am not in a position, nor would I rule out that that

         16  funding might be made available to provide those

         17  resources.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  But the

         19  SAFE team does not have the equipment that the new

         20  teams have.  It does not have the ability to

         21  coordinate the response amongst the police, the

         22  prosecutors, the doctors, nurses and the counselors

         23  like the SART Team has--.

         24                 MR. AVILES:  I think every emergency

         25  department that serves sexual assault victims should
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          2  have that capability and--.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  Well then,

          4  why did you create the SART Team?

          5                 If the SART Team is good for

          6  everybody else, why do you need the SART Team?

          7                 MR. AVILES:  Ours did before we had

          8  the SART Team established, we did all of that.

          9                 As I said, with the additional

         10  component was being able to create an on- call team

         11  so that all those components could be in an ED

         12  within 60 minutes.  That was the additional cost

         13  that was funded for us.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  Although

         15  rape is down citywide, on the North Shore of Staten

         16  Island it increased 40 percent last year, and this

         17  year alone there are more than 21 rapes, up from ten

         18  the year before.

         19                 So, do the rape victims of Staten

         20  Island not warrant the same rapid response and

         21  coordination and counseling in a borough that has an

         22  increase in rape, and by they way and it is not your

         23  fault, but you should know does not have a Special

         24  Victims Unit in the whole borough.

         25                 So, why is it that Staten Island does
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          2  not get this service that is provided in the other

          3  four boroughs?

          4                 What are you going to do to correct

          5  that?

          6                 MR. AVILES:  Council member, again

          7  the SART Program has to be established through a

          8  hospital that has the essential components.  My

          9  understanding is that John Feinblatt's office, the

         10  Office of the Criminal Justice Coordinator is

         11  talking to St. Vincent's Hospital about the funding

         12  of a SART Program.  I am not involved in that

         13  because that is between St. Vincent's Hospital and

         14  the Office of the Criminal Justice Coordinator.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  But you

         16  should be involved, Mr. President, because if there

         17  was an HHC hospital on Staten Island we would not be

         18  having this discussion because a SART Team would

         19  exist.

         20                 MR. AVILES:  And I did have an

         21  initial discussion with that office to initiate

         22  those conversations.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  I think it

         24  is incumbent upon you and your staff to make sure

         25  that that is done in a much quicker fashion because
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          2  the people of Staten Island are not getting fair

          3  treatment.  It is not equal protection under the law

          4  if you are a rape victim on Staten Island, and you

          5  do not have the same services that people have in

          6  the other boroughs.

          7                 MR. AVILES:  Point taken, I am happy

          8  to follow up with Mr. Feinblatt.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  Okay, just

         10  real briefly, I will ask my colleagues to indulge

         11  me.

         12                 If you go to the HHC website and look

         13  up the Smoking Cession Programs and look where you

         14  can find them, it is in the Bronx, it is in

         15  Brooklyn, Manhattan, Queens.

         16                 Why is there none in Staten Island?

         17                 MR. AVILES:  Because we do not

         18  provide adult primary care on Staten Island, and

         19  again, hopefully once we get this community health

         20  center up and running, it will be up and running as

         21  you know at the end of the summer, although it will

         22  not yet have FQHC look- a- like status but, that

         23  will certainly give us a platform so that we can

         24  begin to talk to DOHMH, which helps support our

         25  smoking cession programs about insuring that it is
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          2  doing the same.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  So is HHC

          4  going to continue as a partner at the FQHC clinic

          5  and provide all of these services?

          6                 MR. AVILES:  Yes.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVILES:  How about HHC

          8  breast health screening and education events in May?

          9    All four boroughs, not one in Staten Island.

         10                 You mean you could not partner with

         11  one of the local hospitals, or come to a clinic?

         12                 MR. AVILES:  We in fact, have over

         13  the last couple of years.  What we have done is we

         14  have entered into contracts in order to have

         15  mammograms made available at no cost to the

         16  uninsured women.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  When funded

         18  and pushed by the City Council for the most part,

         19  and on a sporadic basis here, for the month of May

         20  you can go anywhere else in the City and have

         21  provided to you this free screening and testing.

         22                 It only happens on Staten Island when

         23  the City Council funds it, and we make a cause of it

         24  and it happens.

         25                 How about flu shot information at HHC
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          2  facilities?              Obviously none for Staten

          3  Island people over the last winter.  They could only

          4  go to voluntary efforts.  This is nice, I want my

          5  colleagues to see this.  This is the HHC asthma van

          6  that goes throughout the City, and is located

          7  throughout parts of the City; Bronx, Brooklyn,

          8  Manhattan, Queens.  Are there no asthma cases on

          9  Staten Island that would warrant a visit of the

         10  asthma van?

         11                 MR. AVILES:  I believe that the

         12  asthma van from South Brooklyn actually does go into

         13  Staten Island.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  Not

         15  according to your website.  I do not know, I have

         16  never seen it there.  I live there, I have never

         17  seen it.

         18                 Council Member Oddo, have you ever

         19  seen it?

         20                 Child and teen health services,

         21  geographical locations, it actually lists Staten

         22  Island in the top heading, but when you go to look

         23  to find the service on your website, there is no

         24  listing of Staten Island.

         25                 MR. AVILES:  There should be.  I
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          2  mean, I am pretty sure somewhere on our website it

          3  does reflect that we have two child health clinics

          4  on Staten Island.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  Oh, I know

          6  there are health clinics on Staten Island.  I know

          7  them well.  But this is a special initiative that

          8  has no listing for Staten Island.            Again,

          9  and if I am wrong on one, so be it.  But that is not

         10  the point.  The point is very clear, I think, and

         11  you have to recognize not only the inequity but the

         12  urgency that has to be understood here.

         13                 We have two health care systems left

         14  on Staten Island, we had five hospitals.  Now, we

         15  have two.  One is bankrupt, and the other one is in

         16  poor financial shape, and you admitted that

         17  historically Staten Island has been underserved

         18  because of historic reasons and trends and

         19  demographics.

         20                 I want to know starting with the

         21  SART, which is just outrageous, and has obviously

         22  put me over the top, what is going to be done to

         23  address this situation, and when will rape victims

         24  on Staten Island have the same expedited service and

         25  provision of care that people in the rest of the
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          2  City have, and when will these other issues be

          3  addressed?

          4                 Because the FQHC alone is not enough.

          5    A start- up fund of $3.5 million in an agency with

          6  a $4.5 billion budget or $1.5 billion to operate,

          7  $3.5 million for 475 New Yorkers is not enough, and

          8  it is time that there is a change in the philosophy,

          9  and the way that the people of Staten Island are

         10  treated.

         11                 That was a question.  When is the

         12  SART going to be addressed?  We need answers.

         13                 MR. AVILES:  As I indicated, the

         14  funding derives from the Office of the Criminal

         15  Justice Coordinator.

         16                 I am happy to call John Feinblatt,,

         17  find out what the status of that is, and make sure

         18  we get back to you with that.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  I wish you

         20  would.

         21                 One more question.  TEMIS

         22  translation, translation services are not available

         23  to Staten Islanders.

         24                 MR. AVILES:  That is not true.  At

         25  the clinics where we provide services currently, we
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          2  do make translation services available.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  I am sorry.

          4    Hospital emergency, yes, but if someone is in

          5  emergency and they have to go into the hospital and

          6  that is where you need the service.

          7                 MR. AVILES:  We do not have a

          8  hospital in Staten Island, you are right.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER MC MAHON:  No, but you

         10  could supplement one of the hospital services by

         11  providing a TEMIS system or providing something in

         12  there.

         13                 The rapid testing, where do we have

         14  that on Staten Island?  Job development initiative,

         15  where do we have that?

         16                 All the things that you come in and

         17  promote and laud and focus good attention on, the

         18  people of Staten Island are underserved on, Mr.

         19  President.

         20                 I know that you understand this is a

         21  problem but the urgency, the scope, and the breath

         22  of it has to be better understood by you and the

         23  Administration because this is outrageous.

         24                 We have a health care crisis on

         25  Staten Island, and it is time that it be addressed.
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          2                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Council

          3  Member Oddo.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  I should just

          5  say bravo to Council Member Mc Mahon, and leave it

          6  at that because he said it all.

          7                 You know, it is funny I am hearing a

          8  familiar refrain for those of us on Staten Island.

          9                 For years we have asked and begged

         10  and pleaded the MTA for additional bus service,

         11  express bus service and local bus service,

         12  particularly south of Richmond Avenue, and the

         13  excuse that we were given is that there is no third

         14  bus depot to house the additional buses, and when

         15  you get the actual physical structure, the building,

         16  to house the buses, then you will get the service,

         17  and I have to say that Council Member Mc Mahon has

         18  captured it perfectly.

         19                 What you are saying essentially is,

         20  because we have no physical building, because we

         21  have no acute care facility, per se, we do not get

         22  these specific services, these specific screening

         23  services, and this is an issue that Council Member

         24  Mc Mahon, myself, and many others have talked about

         25  for a long time.
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          2                 You have a building, you have Seaview

          3  Hospital, and there is absolutely no excuse for not

          4  having the mammography services, the colonoscopy

          5  services, all the advertisements we see in the

          6  newspapers to have those, and have had those for a

          7  long time.

          8                 We appreciate the baby steps that you

          9  have taken over the last several months, but it

         10  frankly, it is not enough.

         11                 Let me ask you this, what is the

         12  capital budget for HHC and this upcoming--.

         13                 MR. AVILES:  $1.3 billion over five

         14  years.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  $1.3 billion

         16  over five years, and what is the portion of that

         17  money you will be spending on in Richmond County?

         18                 MR. AVILES:  On the capital side?

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Yes.

         20                 MR. AVILES:  Not including the

         21  capital dollars that were being made available for

         22  the senior housing on the Seaview campus--.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Which is not

         24  HHC money.

         25                 MR. AVILES:  It is city money.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  City money.

          3                 MR. AVILES:  Yes.  It is about $5

          4  million.  We are also in the process of designing a

          5  modernization of Seaview.  We have had some

          6  discussions with OMB about that modernization with

          7  coming in at somewhere north of $120 million.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  $5 million of a

          9  $1.3 billion five- year plan?

         10                 I was not any good at math, that is

         11  why I went to law school, but if my colleagues would

         12  just- .5 percent.

         13                 You know, this is the same old song

         14  and dance that we have said for a long time.  I am

         15  just going to leave it at that because it- to go

         16  beyond, it gets us into an area where I do not want

         17  to go.  It is really- it is an embarrassment.  We

         18  have had this conversation now for how many years,

         19  and it has not gotten better.

         20                 I do not begrudge my colleagues in

         21  the other boroughs, but when I see $20 millions and

         22  $50 million and $60 million for individual projects,

         23  my God, if we put more money- Jamaica Medical Center

         24  and Queens Hospital, some $20 million, $58 million,

         25  $219 million for Harlem Hospital Center, God bless
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          2  them, I wish them well, they deserve the money but

          3  $5 million for Staten Island, it is absolutely

          4  disgraceful.

          5                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Next we have

          6  Council Member Gerson, and then Stewart.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

          8  very much, Mr. Chair.

          9                 Mr. President, everyone, good

         10  morning.

         11                 I just, well, having heard the

         12  questions and the points of my colleagues, I just

         13  feel compelled to add, as someone who does not

         14  represent the district of- the borough of Staten

         15  Island, but actually an adjoining district, having

         16  our districts being connected by ferries, but I am

         17  sure I speak for all my colleagues that we would

         18  support rectification, rectifying, the inequities

         19  that my colleagues have so clearly set forth, and

         20  would certainly want to see that happen.  I am sure

         21  all of us feel the same on that.

         22                 Let me just ask you in the area of

         23  preparedness, medical preparedness, in the incidence

         24  of either a major natural disaster, or heaven

         25  forbid, another attack, to what extent has the HHC
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          2  system been involved in upgrading facilities or

          3  installing facilities for preparedness purposes to

          4  be able to respond to chemical, nuclear, biological

          5  attacks?

          6                 How much funds, expense and capital

          7  do you expect to spend in any such effort during the

          8  upcoming fiscal year, and have you received, and do

          9  you expect to receive reimbursement for such

         10  expenditures from federal or state government?

         11                 MR. AVILES:  We have done- we have

         12  made a number of investments in terms of enhancing

         13  our emergency preparedness.             For example,

         14  all of our emergency departments are now equipped

         15  with high volume biochemical decontamination

         16  showers.  We have upgraded the generator systems.

         17  We are in the process of doing that.  We have

         18  already completed some of those upgrades, as well as

         19  the electrical grids to ensure that in the event of,

         20  for example, a citywide blackout that we can operate

         21  all of our facilities as we need to.

         22                 A lot of that money has come from the

         23  City.  Some of that money has come from federal

         24  sources, from Homeland Security.  I think in this

         25  year it is about $8 million has been allocated for
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          2  us.  It is being used for a variety of purposes.

          3  Some of that is to ensure that we have adequate

          4  supplies related to possible biochemical events,

          5  including protective equipment for our own personnel

          6  to wear and the like.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So is that $8

          8  million from the federal government?

          9                 MR. AVILES:  Yes.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And could you

         11  give us a sense of what percentage does that

         12  constitute of your overall emergency preparedness

         13  expenditures?

         14                 MR. AVILES:  We can get back to you

         15  on that.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I mean your

         17  sense, is it well under half?

         18                 MR. AVILES:  It is well under half,

         19  well, well.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, well,

         21  well under half.

         22                 MR. AVILES:  Well, well under half.

         23  I mean, if I had to guess I would say it is probably

         24  in the order of ten percent, and that is not of

         25  need, that is of what we have actually done and what
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          2  the City has stepped up to the plate to fund.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But I am sure

          4  as we have heard testimony from the voluntary

          5  hospital sector, the need is yet greater than what

          6  we have been able to--.

          7                 MR. AVILES:  Yes, that is correct.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So in terms

          9  of- in relationship to overall real, in terms of

         10  prudent need, it is a much smaller percentage than

         11  even--.

         12                 MR. AVILES:  It is a small fraction.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.

         14                 Money aside, even although- has there

         15  been any federal or any organized cooperative

         16  planning efforts in which HHC has participated--.

         17                 MR. AVILES:  Of course.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Fully

         19  participated?

         20                 MR. AVILES:  Yes, we obviously

         21  coordinate very closely with the Office of Emergency

         22  Management.  We participate with them on table top

         23  drills, as well as running our own.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, and the

         25  cost of that, does that come out of OEM, or is that
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          2  also out of the HHC budget?

          3                 MR. AVILES:  Some of it comes out of

          4  our budget as well.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, all

          6  right.

          7                 Let me ask you, you have one facility

          8  within the catchment area of the Lower Manhattan

          9  Development Corporation, Gouverneur Hospital, and I

         10  should acknowledge on behalf of the community I

         11  represent, the outstanding work Gouverneur has done

         12  for our community.  It has been a pleasure to work

         13  very closely with the folks there, as with you.

         14                 We have discussed with the non- HHC

         15  hospitals in the catchment area, the need for a

         16  study to plan for the coordinated delivery of

         17  hospital services, both in emergency preparedness

         18  and day to day services in the Lower Manhattan area

         19  in wake of the history, in wake of perspective

         20  developments.

         21                 Would you concur and with HHC- would

         22  you concur on the need for such a study between

         23  Gouverneur and the downtown hospital, St. Vincent's,

         24  as well as other satellite and other facilities in

         25  the area, and would you support and participate in
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          2  any such studies?

          3                 MR. AVILES:  Absolutely, I mean we

          4  are always open to collaboration into trying to find

          5  ways to ensure that we are partnering to leverage in

          6  the best possible respective way.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Does it

          8  strike you as a good idea to undertake such an

          9  effort?

         10                 MR. AVILES:  It does strike me as a

         11  good idea.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, let me

         13  just move on very briefly to other subjects.

         14                 HHC involvement in school- based

         15  health care delivery.

         16                 MR. AVILES:  Yes?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Could you

         18  outline what- how much of a budget do you have, if

         19  any, for school- based services for grades for

         20  coordination between HHC hospitals and our public

         21  schools, and is there opportunity, or will there be

         22  opportunity in the upcoming fiscal year, under the

         23  Executive Budget, to increase- where we have, just

         24  as an example which I am sure could be repeated, but

         25  perhaps not on Staten Island, but I am sure could be
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          2  repeated elsewhere throughout the City, we have

          3  schools in the proximity to HHC facilities in my

          4  district which could benefit from a greater

          5  coordination and interface and involvement in areas

          6  of obesity, and preventative, and follow- up

          7  screenings.

          8                 What are you doing now, and do you

          9  have funding to expand on a case by case basis?

         10                 MR. AVILES:  We do not have funding

         11  to expand.  We run about 26 school- based clinics

         12  now.  The model is typically a nurse practitioner

         13  with a small support staff, and frankly, we are

         14  looking at the model to see whether that really

         15  makes the most sense, in terms of how cost effective

         16  it is.

         17                 We do think that perhaps a model that

         18  focuses more on education and on preventive

         19  services, since so many of the children because of

         20  Child Health Plus, are in fact, covered these days.

         21  So, they have primary care providers.  But, we do

         22  provide services in 26 schools at the present time.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That is

         24  through school based clinics?

         25                 MR. AVILES:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I guess I am

          3  asking you, if we do not have an opportunity to

          4  expand the number of school based clinics based on

          5  the current budget, are there other ways of

          6  improving coordination, are there other ways of

          7  having a referral system?

          8                 For instance, I am working with

          9  Gouverneur to put in place an obesity initiative.

         10                 MR. AVILES:  One example of that is

         11  in the north Brooklyn community where, at Woodhall

         12  Hospital, we have very close relationships with a

         13  network of schools and that community around asthma,

         14  and we partner as well with the American Lung

         15  Association in terms of the Air Pathways Program

         16  that they have in the schools.  So, our staff at

         17  Woodhall are involved in actually going to the

         18  schools and talking to students about asthma and

         19  self- management of asthma and the relationship, so

         20  that students who need to be linked to asthma

         21  programs can be linked directly back to Woodhall,

         22  Cumberland or other satellites.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So will the

         24  Proposed Executive Budget allow for the expansion of

         25  those types of collaborations where we cannot put in
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          2  place a school- based clinic?

          3                 MR. AVILES:  Well, we take the

          4  position that that type of outreach, and

          5  establishing those sort of partnerships with

          6  community- based organizations with schools, with

          7  others in the community is part and parcel of our

          8  mission.

          9                 So, we do have staff who's role it is

         10  to do that, and to continue to try and find ways to

         11  expand those efforts.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So the answer

         13  is yes.

         14                 MR. AVILES:  The answer is yes.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay and

         16  finally, with respect to the capital budget, could

         17  you just inform us on where we stand with the

         18  capital upgrade to Gouverneur?

         19                 There is a major- for the upcoming

         20  fiscal year, and if you do not have this available,

         21  you could provide this to me and to the committee

         22  shortly thereafter, but there is a proposed major

         23  renovation of the facility.

         24                 MR. AVILES:  Yes, there is a

         25  preliminary design and we are in the process of
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          2  doing value engineering on it.

          3                 We can get back to you in terms of

          4  the exact status.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, but I

          6  just want to bring to your attention the possibility

          7  over the next several months of working together to

          8  obtain funding through the Lower Manhattan

          9  Development Corporation, and if we obtain that for

         10  Gouverneur that would free up money for hospitals

         11  elsewhere in the system, obviously.  There is one

         12  last pool of money for community enhancements that

         13  has not been allocated.  I am, and the community is

         14  arguing that health care, which has been neglected

         15  thusfar in the LMDC allotments should receive a top

         16  priority, and certainly support from HHC and the

         17  Administration for making health care at

         18  Gouverneur's as well as other facilities Downtown a

         19  top priority.  It would make it a lot easier for us

         20  to obtain those critical funds.

         21                 MR. AVILES:  Well, thank you for

         22  raising that and we will follow up with you on that.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  All right, I

         24  will look forward to continuing the conversation on

         25  all these issues.
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          2                 Thank you very much.

          3                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you very

          5  much.

          6                 Next we have Council Member Stewart,

          7  then Dickens, then Jackson.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWARD:  Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair.

         10                 Mr. President, I have a few questions

         11  that I would like a little clarity on.

         12                 We know that malpractice payout has

         13  been down.               Could you tell us, what do

         14  you attribute that to?

         15                 MR. AVILES:  Well, it is a couple of

         16  things.  In Fiscal Year`03 we hit a high water mark

         17  of $196 million in malpractice payments.  Around

         18  that time, we began an initiative to reform and

         19  restructure the claims management process within our

         20  system that included bringing on board a

         21  professional claims management organization, which

         22  assures that we do a very speedy investigation of

         23  all claims.  That helps us both to preserve all of

         24  the evidence related to the defense of the claims.

         25  It also helps us to assess the claims early on, and
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          2  so we have begun working with the comptroller's

          3  office and the city law department and early

          4  settlement program that is calculated to settle

          5  cases much earlier on in the process, where they

          6  often can be settled for a lower amount.

          7                 At the same time, we have settled on

          8  mounting a more vigorous defense of those cases

          9  where we believe a defense really is the most

         10  appropriate response.

         11                 We have put in place digital

         12  equipment that assures that fetal monitoring strips,

         13  which are critical in the defense of OB/GYN cases,

         14  and these are the cases that drive the largest part

         15  of our malpractice costs, more than 50 percent, of

         16  the malpractice cost relates to neurologically

         17  impaired infants, and in a system that delivers one-

         18  fifth of the babies in New York City, that is part

         19  and parcel of doing business.  We want to make sure

         20  that we are preparing those cases as well as

         21  possible.

         22                 So, we are bowed down to last fiscal

         23  year $140 million as a result of a lot of this

         24  effort.

         25                 Some of it relates to risk management
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          2  as well, which we have beefed up across the system.

          3  I do not think we are really seeing a lot of the

          4  increase that we will get from the risk management

          5  because there is such a delay in terms of the

          6  resolution of most of these cases still, though we

          7  are getting to that point.

          8                 The most encouraging thing from my

          9  perspective, this year malpractice notice's of claim

         10  across the system are down ten percent, so that

         11  hopefully, is the beginning of a trend in terms of

         12  our seeing fewer cases actually brought, and

         13  litigated.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  But Mr.

         15  President, the number of claims have gone up.  We

         16  are paying out less, but the number of claims have

         17  gone up.

         18                 How do you explain that?

         19                 MR. AVILES:  Not this year.  The

         20  number of claims have not gone up, they have gone

         21  down.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  According to

         23  the records, it shows that the number of claims have

         24  gone up.

         25                 MR. AVILES:  I am not sure what
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          2  records you are looking at council member, but we

          3  can give you the data that will show you that the

          4  claims have gone down.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right,

          6  do you have any idea what the rates are in terms of

          7  other private hospitals compared to HHC facilities?

          8                 MR. AVILES:  You mean in terms of the

          9  claims or malpractice costs and all of that?

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Claims and

         11  payouts, both.

         12                 MR. AVILES:  You know, that data is

         13  not transparent to the public, and therefore, it is

         14  not generally available.

         15                 I will tell you that in terms of some

         16  of the outside consulting firms that we use,

         17  including the Caronia Corporation, which now does

         18  our claims, management work we are told anecdotally

         19  that we compare very favorably to what they see in

         20  the voluntary system.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Do you have

         22  any plans for continuous training and preparation

         23  and prevention of these things?

         24                 MR. AVILES:  Yes.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  You have
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          2  training?

          3                 MR. AVILES:  Yes in fact, one of the

          4  things we have done is we have set up a captive

          5  insurance company for the first time in recent

          6  years.  We do this so that we can access the excess

          7  liability pool which all of the hospitals in the

          8  state have access to, which helps to defer some of

          9  the malpractice costs in high exposure cases.  Those

         10  costs get picked up by the pool.  HHC never had

         11  access to that pool because we are self funded,

         12  self- insured entity.  We did not meet the statutory

         13  requirements that actually require that you have a

         14  primary layer of coverage, so we created a captive

         15  insurance to do that.

         16                 Part of our doing that means we have

         17  to comply with a statutory provision that all of our

         18  physicians on a annual basis have to go through a

         19  risk reduction course, so last year we put nearly

         20  5,000 physicians through an on- line risk

         21  management, risk reduction course.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  You spoke

         23  about physicians, but what happened- the people who

         24  do most of the work are the nurses, and the support

         25  staff.
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          2                 So what about those folks?

          3                 MR. AVILES:  Absolutely, and we have

          4  a major patient safety initiative that is ongoing,

          5  that cuts across all disciplines.  We do it in a

          6  variety of different dimensions, up patient safety,

          7  we have clinical care collaboratives going on in

          8  order to reduce hospital acquired infection rates in

          9  our I.C.U.'s.  They involve nursing, in fact,

         10  nursing has often taken a leadership role around

         11  much of the patient safety agenda.

         12                 One of our major initiatives that

         13  involves nursing front and center is an effort to

         14  change the organizational culture, which is one not

         15  uncommon in the hospital industry, which tends to

         16  make people in the system reluctant to report

         17  medical errors that occur that do not necessarily

         18  have an adverse impact on patients, that do not

         19  injure patients.  That often occurs because the

         20  right nurse happens to be in the operating room or

         21  in the procedure room, and catches the error from

         22  occurring, and therefore, the patient is not harmed.

         23

         24                 The issue is that we want to make

         25  sure that those instances are brought to the table
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          2  so that we can analyze them as we do adverse

          3  occasions that harm patients, they are called near

          4  misses or close calls, and it is an opportunity for

          5  us to make sure that we are re- engineering, that we

          6  are hard- wiring our systems for safety so that that

          7  same error cannot be replicated the next time

          8  around, when that nurse may not be in the room to

          9  stop it from happening.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I want to

         11  change a little bit.

         12                 Can you comment on the pending

         13  immigration law, and how it will affect the services

         14  at HHC facilities?

         15                 MR. AVILES:  Well at this point, the

         16  pending federal bills really conflict, and

         17  therefore, it is very unclear what, if anything,

         18  will be enacted.

         19                 From our view there is nothing in

         20  either bill that would fundamentally change the

         21  status quo for us, meaning that part of our mission

         22  is to ensure that we provide access to all New

         23  Yorkers without regard to the ability to pay, and

         24  without regard to their immigration status.  That

         25  has long been our policy.  We view it as being a
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          2  critical portion part of our mission, and we fully

          3  intend to continue to fulfill that mission.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  My last

          5  question, basically, you are saying that with either

          6  version of the bills that are there, it may not

          7  change your--.

          8                 MR. AVILES:  It will not change the

          9  fundamental reality for us, which is that we have

         10  always had the policy, it is supported in the law

         11  that patient information is strictly confidential.

         12  That includes all patient information, whether it is

         13  medical information or whether it is information

         14  related to immigration status.  We have been very

         15  clear on this.

         16                 We, on an annual basis, issue memos

         17  to our staff across the entire system reminding them

         18  that that is our policy, and that an employee that

         19  violates that policy risks loosing his or her job.

         20  We just did that again recently.  We see nothing

         21  changing on that front.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  But you know

         23  that the federal government has threatened that they

         24  will be requesting this information, and if the

         25  information is not forthcoming, they will be denying
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          2  us monies coming back to our facilities into the

          3  City.

          4                 MR. AVILES:  I am not aware of that

          5  either of these federal laws has that provision in

          6  it.  There have been attempts to introduce bills

          7  that might accomplish that.  But neither of the

          8  bills that have now been passed, one by the House,

          9  one by the Senate, contains those sort of

         10  provisions.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right.

         12                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         13                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you

         14  council member.

         15                 Council Member Dickens.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Thank you so

         17  much Chairs Rivera, Weprin and Sears.

         18                 Thank you, President Aviles for your

         19  testimony.

         20                 I know that you received a lot of

         21  testimony and questions concerning Staten Island,

         22  and it is true that there is a lot of health

         23  inequities going on there but I want to thank you

         24  for the major modernization project at Harlem

         25  Hospital because that also in addition is very
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          2  important to the City of New York, and to the

          3  residents of northern Manhattan.

          4                 So, I want to thank you very much

          5  about that, and when do you expect that we will

          6  start on that?

          7                 MR. AVILES:  Well, we actually have

          8  begun in the sense of preparing the nursing

          9  residence for initial demolition that will prepare

         10  the footprint for the new expanded Harlem Hospital

         11  and the new bed tower.

         12                 So, we are in essence already in

         13  progress there. It will take us probably to the

         14  later part of 2009 to complete, substantially

         15  complete the construction of that initial phase.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Well, I am

         17  very proud of you for what you and your staff has

         18  done to work with this administration in order to

         19  get this done.

         20                 One quick question on the substance

         21  abuse tax levy funding, that $4.8 million that was

         22  transferred from HRA for`06, that has not been

         23  earmarked for`07, is that correct?

         24                 MS. BROWN:  That is correct.  We

         25  would need that funding to maintain those programs,
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          2  which have been very successful into`07.  That

          3  funding is gone.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Now have you

          5  had any discussions with the administration

          6  regarding that this abuse- tax levy funding, have

          7  you had any discussion with them to see about it

          8  being restored?

          9                 MS. BROWN:  This is the history of

         10  this item. This program has been in operation for

         11  approximately eight years. It was originally funded

         12  with city tax levy.

         13                 A number of years ago in a prior

         14  budget, the City moved the funding to HRA and tried

         15  to claim a significant amount of federal TANF

         16  dollars.  Now, there have been major changes in the

         17  TANF Program, and those dollars are no longer

         18  available.

         19                 So, in the face of a federal cut, the

         20  City eliminated the funding.  We have shared with

         21  OMB the significant and important outcomes of these

         22  programs, and we have been talking to them but that

         23  would require additional funding because the federal

         24  funding is gone.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Because I am
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          2  very concerned about several of the programs.

          3                 For instance, the Methadone

          4  Enhancement Initiatives, the Job Development

          5  Initiative, and the Child Health Care Clinics.

          6                 So, I am very concerned as I read

          7  about what is going on, and the cuts that we are

          8  being faced with.  What is going to happen with

          9  these things?

         10                 So, that is why I am asking about

         11  this?

         12                 MR. AVILES:  We are very grateful to

         13  the Council for the restorations that have occurred

         14  in the past.  Obviously they have been critical to

         15  allowing us to continue to run these excellent

         16  programs, and we hope that the Council can do the

         17  same this fiscal year.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Because the

         19  City Council has been restoring to try to keep these

         20  programs alive.

         21                 What about the summer nursing school?

         22

         23                 What is going on with that, and that

         24  program is that going to be cut out altogether, the

         25  summer nursing school program?
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          2                 MS. BROWN:  Council member, are you

          3  talking about the Pooled Nursing Program?

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Yes.

          5                 MS. BROWN:  That is a partnership

          6  with North General Hospital, but we can follow up

          7  with you on the status of that program.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  Yes, all

          9  right, okay.

         10                 MS. BROWN:  I am not certain as to

         11  what is going to happen this summer.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER DICKENS:  All right,

         13  thank you

         14  so much, thank you.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

         16  council member.

         17                 Council Member Jackson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Well thank

         19  you Mr. Chair.

         20                 Good morning Dr. Aviles, and to LaRay

         21  Brown and your other top executive.

         22                 Let me just start off by saying that

         23  the Health and Hospitals Corp. And staff involved,

         24  Jose Sanchez, and LaRay Brown and others were very

         25  instrumental to me personally.  They saved my
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          2  brothers life.  He was on his deathbed, and he was a

          3  long- term patient at Coler Hospital, and now he is

          4  home and he is doing fine, and so, I as an

          5  individual, as a citizen of this great city, and as

          6  a member of the City Council, I am always indebted

          7  to you and your staff for the job you did in

          8  bringing

          9  my brother back to life.

         10                 So I say that but I wanted to speak

         11  about the Manhattanville Health Clinic.  I know that

         12  I have had discussions with the health commissioner,

         13  and constituents from my area, representatives of

         14  Community Board 9, and also from the Manhattanville

         15  Houses and Grant Houses, the leadership there, and

         16  other community residents are very concerned about

         17  the fact that the clinic has not been reopened.  I

         18  know that you are not responsible for the

         19  construction or reconstruction of that facility, but

         20  you are responsible for the staffing and what have

         21  you, and so forth.

         22                 So, I raise that as an issue because

         23  I want to make sure that all of the forces work

         24  together to ensure that that clinic is reopened as

         25  quickly as possible.
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          2                 MR. AVILES:  We made that commitment,

          3  and we remain committed to reopening that clinic

          4  once the construction is completed at that site.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Well I am

          6  happy to hear that, and so, whatever it takes to

          7  follow up on that, I am going to be communicating

          8  with you and your staff, and with the Commissioner

          9  and my other people in the community.

         10                 But also, I just want to reiterate

         11  what my colleagues, Council Member Martinez and

         12  Dickens said, that we all represent northern

         13  Manhattan, and we want to make sure that the

         14  reconstruction and development and funding for

         15  Harlem Hospital remains, and continues to move

         16  forward to ensure that all of the people of northern

         17  Manhattan have the type of facility that we will all

         18  stand up and be proud of, and move forward towards

         19  the next 20, 30 years, and that is what the project

         20  is looking towards.

         21                 So I hope that everything moves

         22  forward, and anything that I can do to be helpful in

         23  that, I ask you to please reach out to me.

         24                 MR. AVILES:  Thank you council

         25  member.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Thank you,

          3  Mr. Chair.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you,

          5  council member.

          6                 I believe Chair Sears had a question

          7  or statement.

          8                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Yes, thank

          9  you.  It was just a statement.

         10                 I just wanted to say that although

         11  one of the things you should constantly work at

         12  improving and expanding all that you do, but I have

         13  to say publicly that there is no institution in the

         14  world, and I repeat in the world, that is the HHC.

         15                 I know that when I needed health care

         16  in a foreign country, it was really quite a

         17  nightmare to get it, unless somebody really spoke

         18  English there.

         19                 So, you do astounding work and I

         20  think everyone should realize how grateful we are in

         21  this city to have such a fine institution as yours,

         22  and how closely you work with us.

         23                 So, I feel I had to say that.

         24                 MR. AVILES:  Thank you, council

         25  member.  It is a tribute to 38,000 men and women who
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          2  are so committed to our mission.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER SEARS:  Thank you,

          4  thank you Mr. Chair.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you.

          6                 Seeing no further questions, we want

          7  to thank you for coming.

          8                 Today is Hunger Awareness Day, and

          9  the city council, council members across their

         10  district, served breakfast to children throughout

         11  the City to highlight our free breakfast program in

         12  schools, and I think it is appropriate since we have

         13  health- related personnel and Health and Hospital

         14  Corporation, and we are going to hear from the

         15  Health Department, that we highlight the fact that

         16  all children in our public schools are entitled to

         17  free breakfast, regardless of income.  We want to

         18  highlight that, and we have an event on the steps of

         19  City Hall at noon with former Senator George

         20  McGovern to highlight that event. So, we are going

         21  to take a 15 minute recess and we are going to

         22  reconvene around 12:15, hearing from the Department

         23  of Health.

         24                 Thank you.

         25                 (Recess)
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  My name is David

          3  Weprin, I chair the Finance Committee.  My co- chair

          4  is Joel Rivera, chair of the Health Committee.  We

          5  have Council Member Helen Sears, who is head of the

          6  Task Force on Hospital Closings, and we will be

          7  joined by a number of council members as the day

          8  goes on.

          9                 Just for the record, I was contacted

         10  by Doctor Thomas Frieden who apologized, and I know

         11  he contacted Chair Rivera as well, who apologized

         12  for not being able to make it here today due to a

         13  long- standing commitment for a very important

         14  function on behalf of the City of New York, and I

         15  recognized that, and he sends his apologies but he

         16  is going to be sending- he does have his Senior

         17  Deputy's here, and we look forward to hearing from

         18  them.

         19                 Chair Rivera, do you want to say

         20  anything?

         21                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yes, pretty

         22  much this also begins the public health portion of

         23  our hearing.  The Department's Fiscal 2007 Executive

         24  Budget is $1.4 billion.

         25                 In developing this Executive Budget,
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          2  the Department has included reductions in such

          3  critical areas as health clinics, infant and

          4  maternal health and disease prevention, minority

          5  school health, and youth funding for the Nurse Home

          6  Visiting Initiative, and an amendment to the

          7  Department's Animal Care and Control contract.

          8                 This Committee and this Council are

          9  distressed that the $28 million in funding that was

         10  included in the Fiscal 2006 Adopted Budget has not

         11  been included in the 2007 Executive Budget.

         12                 Today we will look how to address

         13  this and other pertinent issues to ensure that these

         14  programs are not cut out of the Mayor's Executive

         15  Budget year in and year out.

         16                 As my colleague stated, Commissioner

         17  Frieden is not with us today but he has his very

         18  capable and able staff here to discuss and answer

         19  questions that we ask.

         20                 Thank you, and we may begin.

         21                 Do you want to say anything Helen?

         22                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  No.

         23                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay,

         24  proceed.

         25                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Good
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          2  afternoon Chairperson Rivera, Weprin, Sears and

          3  members of the Committee.

          4                 My name is Doctor Isaac Weisfuse.  I

          5  am Deputy Commissioner for Disease Control at the

          6  New York City Department of Health and Mental

          7  Hygiene.

          8                 Commissioner Frieden sincerely

          9  regrets unable to be here today but these remarks

         10  are given on his behalf and with his approval.

         11                 As always, he remains eager to meet

         12  with the Council on any financial or programmatic

         13  matter.

         14                 The Department appreciates the

         15  opportunity to present testimony on the Department's

         16  FY 2007 Executive Budget.

         17                 My comments today will be limited to

         18  the Department's Public Health Portfolio, as the

         19  Agencies Mental Health/Hygiene programs were the

         20  subject of a prior hearing.

         21                 As you know in 2004, the Department

         22  launched Take Care New York, a healthy policy for

         23  the City that prioritizes actions to help

         24  individuals, health care providers, communities, and

         25  the City as a whole to improve health.  The policy
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          2  promotes actions we can all take to keep healthy,

          3  such as having a regular doctor, being tobacco-

          4  free, maintaining heart health, knowing HIV status,

          5  getting help for depression, living free of

          6  dependence on alcohol and drugs, getting checked for

          7  cancer, and having a healthy baby.  Among other

          8  things, we expanded our partnerships to more than

          9  180 organizations, including hospitals, health

         10  insurers, community- based organizations, and other

         11  City agencies; conducted a borough- wide preventive

         12  services campaign in Staten Island; and continued to

         13  educate the public through the distribution of the

         14  Passport to Your Health.

         15                 I want to thank the Council in

         16  particular for supporting the colon cancer screening

         17  program, and the maternal infant health program.

         18                 The colon cancer program, which as

         19  far as we know is the first of its kind in the

         20  United States, is responsible for saving dozens of

         21  lives in each of the past two years.  These and

         22  other Take Care New York priorities are reflected

         23  throughout this Department's budget.

         24                 Although New York City's infant

         25  mortality rates are at near- historic lows, infant

                                                            125

          1  FINANCE AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  deaths remain unacceptably high in certain

          3  neighborhoods.  The Executive Budget includes an

          4  additional $3.6 million in FY`07, and $4.8 million

          5  in FY`08, to fund the expansion of the Nurse Family

          6  Partnership, and the Newborn Home Visiting Program.

          7  This additional funding brings the Department's new,

          8  baselined investment in maternal and infant health

          9  to over $9 million since Fiscal Year`06.  Additional

         10  financial support provided by the Council has

         11  further strengthened these programs, and we look

         12  forward to continuing this partnership.

         13                 The Nurse Family Partnership is a

         14  nationally replicated model that has proven

         15  successful in improving maternal and child health

         16  and breaking the cycle of poverty for families,

         17  provides regular home visits to first- time, high-

         18  risk moms from pregnancy through the child's second

         19  birthday.

         20                 We launched NFP in 2003 in the

         21  neighborhood of Jamaica, Queens and have since

         22  expanded to our three District Public Health Office

         23  catchment areas serving Central Brooklyn, the South

         24  Bronx and East and Central Harlem.

         25                 The program currently has funding to
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          2  serve 845 families, and an additional FY`07 funding

          3  will increase our capacity by an additional 475

          4  families, bringing the total capacity to 1,320

          5  families.  We will also target a special population

          6  of very high- risk pregnant women that includes

          7  teens in foster care and women in homeless shelters

          8  or the prison system, regardless of their place of

          9  residence.

         10                 Similarly, the Newborn Home Visiting

         11  Program provides home visits and referral services

         12  to mothers with new infants in certain high risk

         13  neighborhoods.  This program targets all 7,800

         14  families with newborns in Bedford- Stuyvesant, and

         15  Bushwick in Brooklyn, and East and Central Harlem.

         16  The expanded Newborn Home Visiting Program, which is

         17  a much lower intensity intervention, will target an

         18  additional 12,000 parents in targeted, high poverty

         19  neighborhoods during the fiscal year.

         20                 Our agency also continues to focus

         21  efforts on reducing teen pregnancy, and improving

         22  the overall health of adolescents in our city.

         23  Later this week, in collaboration with the New York

         24  City Family Planning Group, we will be launching our

         25  Healthy Teens Initiative to increase adolescents
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          2  access to comprehensive sexual and reproductive

          3  health services.  The initiative is part of the

          4  Mayor's Healthy Women, Healthy Babies Initiative and

          5  provides a tool kit and free technical assistance

          6  and training to health care providers who are

          7  adolescents.

          8                 The Department continues its

          9  commitment to improving medical treatment and

         10  maintaining a high standard of care in our City's

         11  jail inmates.  The budget includes $3.7 million for

         12  rapid HIV test kits and gonorrhea and chlamydia

         13  testing and treatment for the inmate population.

         14  While we quadrupled the number of inmates tested in

         15  the last year, our goal is to provide the

         16  opportunity for testing to every person who comes

         17  into the system.  Our discharge planning system is

         18  also improving linkage of these persons to

         19  appropriate care in the community.

         20                 The expansion of rapid HIV testing

         21  has the potential to greatly increase the number of

         22  people who know their HIV status, enable them to

         23  benefit from improvements in medical treatment, and

         24  take steps to prevent the spread of infection to

         25  others.  Eliminating additional barriers to testing
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          2  requires amending state public health laws to

          3  reflect advances in diagnosis and treatment of

          4  HIV/AIDS since the law was written two decades ago.

          5  Modernizing these laws allow jurisdictions to

          6  complement their education and prevention efforts

          7  with a focus on diagnosing people earlier and

          8  linking them to effective medical treatment as soon

          9  as possible after diagnosis.  We are confident the

         10  New York State Legislature will move to modify New

         11  York State's counseling and testing requirements

         12  accordingly.

         13                 The Department's budget also reflects

         14  support for an exciting initiative that will harness

         15  the latest information technology to improve

         16  outpatient health care in the City.  Funded at $27.1

         17  million over the next five years, the Primary Care

         18  Information Project is an ambitious initiative that

         19  will provide electronic health records and public

         20  health and clinical decision support tools for

         21  selected physician practices, as well as for the 30

         22  community health centers that comprise more than 150

         23  primary care sites around New York City.  These

         24  community health centers are an important part of

         25  the primary care safety net serving approximately
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          2  half a million medically underserved New Yorkers.

          3  Implementation of the PCIP will place the most up-

          4  to date clinical decision- making tools into the

          5  hands of physicians serving some of our most at-

          6  risk communities.

          7                 The budget also includes $12.5

          8  million to implement similar technology in the

          9  Department's Correctional Health Services.  With

         10  this new tool, we expect to reduce medical errors

         11  and duplicate procedures, minimize adverse drug

         12  reactions, and generally improve health care for

         13  some of our most vulnerable citizens in our City.

         14                 While all 30 community health centers

         15  have shown a desire to participate in this project,

         16  many lack the basic infrastructure to take full

         17  advantage of the technology we are offering.

         18                 We are working closely with the

         19  community health centers to assist them in

         20  identifying the additional funding required to make

         21  the necessary capital improvements.  In fact, just

         22  last month the agency was awarded a $3.2 million

         23  HEAL grant as part of New York State's Health

         24  Information Technology initiative.  This project

         25  will make New York City the national leader in
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          2  providing high- quality health care to those most in

          3  need.  We appreciate the support expressed by this

          4  Council for this critical project.

          5                 Next, controlling diabetes is one of

          6  our highest public priorities.  While deaths from

          7  some of the City's leading killers; heart disease,

          8  colon cancer, HIV/AIDS, and homicides have fallen,

          9  diabetes has become epidemic, and is now the fifth

         10  leading cause of death in New York City.

         11                 With this in mind, the budget

         12  includes an annual funding of $1.8 million for a

         13  pilot project aimed at controlling diabetes by

         14  tracking hemoglobin A1C blood levels, and providing

         15  support to doctors and patients to improve diabetes

         16  care.  This pilot program will improve care for

         17  people with poorly- controlled diabetes in the South

         18  Bronx, a neighborhood with one of the City's highest

         19  diabetes prevalence.  Our goal is to reduce the

         20  number of people at serious risk for complications

         21  of diabetes by at least 20 percent by the year 2008.

         22                 We have also launched an outreach

         23  campaign for mothers who develop diabetes during

         24  pregnancy.  Approximately 4,000 mother each year

         25  develop gestational diabetes, and are thus at high
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          2  risk for developing diabetes.  The program will

          3  provide educational information to at- risk moms, as

          4  well as face- to- face support through the Nurse

          5  Family Partnership program.

          6                 We continue to work with our

          7  community partners, such as the American Diabetes

          8  Association and the Department of Veterans Affairs,

          9  to increase awareness and improve monitoring and

         10  medical care to control diabetes.

         11                 Reducing childhood and adult obesity

         12  is central to winning this battle.  Working with

         13  community resources such as bodegas and other food

         14  markets, we are improving access to healthy food

         15  choices in high- risk neighborhoods.

         16                 To promote physical activity, we are

         17  training day care workers and teachers in SPARK

         18  which stands for Sports, Play and Active Recreation

         19  for Kids!, a curriculum designed to develop high

         20  energy physical activities for children.  DOHMH has

         21  already trained more than 2,500 staff from 650

         22  elementary school, pre school, day care and after-

         23  school sites, and we hope to expand this program to

         24  reach the approximately 120,000 children in group

         25  day care or school- based Pre- K programs.  We
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          2  appreciate the Council's interest and support for

          3  this program.

          4                 I would also like to take a moment to

          5  briefly highlight one recent departmental success,

          6  our 311 nicotine replacement therapy giveaway

          7  program.  As part of this initiative, the agency

          8  provided nicotine replacement therapy supplies to

          9  smokers citywide who wanted to quit.  In a little

         10  over one month, 35,000 people received these kits by

         11  calling 311, and we hope are now on their way to

         12  breaking their dependence on tobacco.

         13                 As you know, the agency is required,

         14  along with all other agencies, to achieve savings to

         15  help close the City's budget gap.  The Department's

         16  plan would produce savings through a combination of

         17  revenue and financing actions, operational

         18  efficiencies, and long- term restructuring

         19  initiatives, with a minimal impact on services.

         20  These actions include increasing pest control fees

         21  for exterminations and inspections commensurate with

         22  increased costs, eliminating unneeded Public Health

         23  Laboratory capacity, consolidating underutilized

         24  facilities, recouping overpayments to service

         25  providers, maximizing State and Federal payments for
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          2  administering Medicaid- funded programs, increasing

          3  Medicaid enrollment of children who receive Early

          4  Intervention Services, and refocusing the oral

          5  health program on primary dental care in primary and

          6  middle schools, where interventions have the

          7  greatest benefit.

          8                 In an effort to make sure we provide

          9  the right location, we are in the process of

         10  conducting an in- depth assessment of the

         11  Department's facility needs.  Although our

         12  assessment is not yet complete, we believe that

         13  consolidating a portion of the Department's facility

         14  and clinic portfolio will provide almost $3.6

         15  million in City fiscal relief in FY`08, and $3

         16  million in FY`09.  Our facility consolidation plans

         17  will be based upon a thorough assessment of service

         18  needs, alternative client services, and space

         19  availability in other city- owned buildings or

         20  rental facilities.

         21                 Some services may be moved to other

         22  DOHMH facilities, or we may lease more appropriate

         23  space on an as needed basis.  We anticipate

         24  completing our initial assessment later this summer,

         25  and will share it with council at that time.
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          2                 The Department is also exploring the

          3  potential for savings through a more efficient oral

          4  health service delivery model focused on providing

          5  primary dental care in elementary and middle

          6  schools.  Services would emphasize examinations,

          7  sealant application to prevent dental caries, and

          8  restorative work for cavities, with the particular

          9  focus on sealant application. Dental sealants,

         10  particularly school- based sealant application

         11  programs, are highly effective in preventing

         12  cavities.

         13                 In addition to targeting our efforts

         14  where they are likely to have the greatest benefit,

         15  we believe such a restructuring plan would improve

         16  productivity and efficiency by better matching

         17  service delivery with utilization.

         18                 An additional $302,000 in City Tax

         19  Levy will be saved by phasing out the blood lead

         20  testing capacity at the City's Public Health

         21  Laboratory.  The City's laboratory currently tests

         22  approximately 95,000 lead tests per year, of which

         23  about 99 percent are done at the request of the

         24  Health and Hospitals Corporation.  We also provide

         25  some routine blood test for a few other city
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          2  agencies, and comparable tests are widely available

          3  at commercial laboratories.  The vast majority of

          4  blood lead tests performed at our lab, as I said,

          5  are performed for HHC, and these facilities decided

          6  to either increasing their in house testing capacity

          7  or expanding an existing contact that they have with

          8  a private laboratory.

          9                 I also want to make clear that

         10  private pediatricians and private labs, not the

         11  agency, perform mandatory blood lead testing and

         12  reporting for young children.  Therefore, these

         13  services will not be affected by this change.

         14                 Increased revenues will be realized

         15  through inflation adjustments in the cost of pest

         16  control exterminations and inspections of properties

         17  whose owners have failed to comply with nuisance

         18  abatement orders.  We are also exploring options for

         19  converting our current system of flat fees to hourly

         20  rates that more accurately reflect the increased

         21  cost to the Department of conducting these

         22  activities.

         23                 Finally, we are deeply concerned

         24  about the proposed reduction in the City's Homeland

         25  Security funding, which provided nearly $14 million
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          2  in support of DOHMH's bioterrorism and public health

          3  preparedness activities.  While we are still

          4  assessing the fiscal impact, this cut is likely to

          5  have an effect on our planning for radiation events,

          6  including subway detection and response projects, as

          7  well as for critical emergency response information

          8  systems.

          9                 Our requests to Homeland Security

         10  included more than $5 million for critical radiation

         11  monitoring initiatives, more than $1 million to

         12  continue to prepare point of distribution sites in

         13  case of need for mass vaccination or treatment, as

         14  well as nearly $4.5 million for activities which are

         15  mission- critical for information technology, such

         16  as redundant data center technology to ensure that

         17  the health department's core, critical, and

         18  emergency systems can continue in case of a

         19  disaster.

         20                 It is essential that these projects

         21  continue, and in the absence of federal funding we

         22  will be forced to look elsewhere for the necessary

         23  resources.

         24                 In closing, we reiterate that, that

         25  we continue to investigate ways to assist in
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          2  addressing the City's fiscal constraints, this

          3  year's budget is balanced with no significant

          4  service impacts.  The Bloomberg administration has a

          5  solid track record of reducing agency spending

          6  through administrative efficiencies, and this year

          7  is no different.

          8                 Thank you for this opportunity to

          9  discuss the Department's activities and this year's

         10  budget this afternoon. We look forward to partnering

         11  with the Council on many of the initiatives

         12  described today, and we are happy to answer your

         13  questions at this time.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 We have been joined by Council Member

         17  Vincent Gentile from Brooklyn, and Council Member

         18  Eric Gioia from Queens.

         19                 In your testimony you referred to

         20  what seems like a great program, and you referred to

         21  it as a departmental success, and that is the 311

         22  nicotine replacement therapy.  You stated in one

         23  month you gave away to 35,000 individuals patch

         24  kits, just by them having called 311.

         25                 My question for you is are you going

                                                            138

          1  FINANCE AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  to continue this program, and what is the cost

          3  involved?

          4                 MS. BASSETT:  I am Doctor Mary

          5  Bassett, I am responsible for health promotion and

          6  disease prevention, and also oversee the tobacco

          7  control program.

          8                 This is the third time that we have

          9  done a telephone giveaway program.  This time we

         10  actually had- on one previous occasion we had

         11  donated nicotine replacement therapy from a local

         12  pharmaceutical company, the Pfizer Company.  This

         13  year we purchased the products, and at substantial

         14  cost.  We think it is a useful program, and we

         15  certainly would be interested in continuing it in

         16  the future.  The program was able to reach in some

         17  communities up to ten percent of heavy smokers, and

         18  we know that about a third of them will successfully

         19  have quit at six months.

         20                 So, it is a good program.  We have

         21  invested in it for the past three years.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  What would be

         23  the annual cost on a fiscal year basis?

         24                 MR. REIN:  Hi, I am Andrew Rein,

         25  Executive Deputy Commissioner and Chief Operating
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          2  Officer of the Department.

          3                 The annual cost is related to how

          4  many patches we give away.  We have done slightly

          5  different amounts.  We can get back to you with

          6  details, and we funded it as resources have been

          7  available.  So, we can back to you with details on

          8  what this size program would be annually.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Yes, I am just

         10  curious what it would take to expand it, what is the

         11  cost involved, and I would hate to see a situation

         12  where people would like to call in and get, and they

         13  are not available due to a cost, which I assume is

         14  not a huge amount in an overall billion dollar plus

         15  budget.             MR. REIN:  We could get you

         16  details but we do anticipate doing it again next

         17  year to this kind of level, but we will get you

         18  specifics on the cost.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay great, and

         20  just one last question before I turn it over to my

         21  co- chairs.

         22                 You referred to the reduction in

         23  Homeland Security, is that testimony reflective of

         24  the recent announcement that was just made by the

         25  Department of Homeland Security on the reduction of
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          2  funds?

          3                 MR. REIN:  Yes, that reflects that.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay and what if

          5  anything, are you doing to try to counter that, or

          6  working with the Mayor and the Council in making up

          7  for those funds?

          8                 MR. REIN:  Well first of all, we have

          9  been very active in trying to address the issue with

         10  the Department of Homeland Security through our

         11  Washington office, and also the Mayor has called

         12  Secretary Chertoff directly.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  I heard about

         14  that.

         15                 MR. REIN:  Okay, at this stage we do

         16  not think that Homeland Security will change its

         17  mind, so we need to, since this happened relatively

         18  recently, we need to regroup and look at all our

         19  projects and see how we can attempt to fund them.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay and how

         21  would you anticipate making up specifically for

         22  that- I think you said $14 million, is that the

         23  amount?

         24                 MR. REIN:  That is correct.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  And it is
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          2  related to bioterrorism was a good part of that?

          3                 MR. REIN:  All of it was related to

          4  emergency preparedness for the City, public health

          5  emergency preparedness. Some was bioterrorism, some

          6  was radiation terrorism but all fell into that

          7  rubric of emergency preparedness.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Is there a way

          9  that you can substitute for that money through the

         10  normal budget process?

         11                 MR. REIN:  At this point as Dr.

         12  Weisfuse says, we are evaluating our options.  We do

         13  not know specifically how

         14  the cuts will- those are citywide cuts that we have

         15  all read about- how they will affect each agency and

         16  each program, so we need to work through that, loof

         17  for federal, state and maybe local funding streams

         18  that can substitute for that during this grant

         19  cycle.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, is that

         21  something that we should be looking at as we go

         22  through budget negotiations as far as possibly

         23  putting in money.  I mean, it does not seem to be a

         24  large budget item in the light of the size of our

         25  budget.
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          2                 MR. REIN:  I mean, we definitely

          3  welcome support in addressing this priority.  It is

          4  critical for the City, and of course, to the Council

          5  and to the Department.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  If you had to

          7  put a dollar amount on the Homeland Security-

          8  related money that is gone, what would be that

          9  dollar amount?

         10                 Is it the $14 million, or is it $14

         11  million plus?

         12                 MR. REIN:  Well it is $14 million for

         13  this particular agency, but the entire urban area

         14  security initiative funds a number of different

         15  agencies, including fire, police, Office of

         16  Emergency Management.

         17                 So, it is $14 million for this

         18  particular agency but it is a larger gap if you

         19  include all of the other agencies.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  But the affect

         21  on the Health Department is in the $14 million

         22  range?

         23                 MR. REIN:  Correct.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Okay, thank you.

         25                 I am going to turn it over to Chair
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          2  Rivera.

          3                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you

          4  very much, Chairman Weprin.

          5                 Thank you very much to the panelists

          6  for joining us here today.

          7                 Dr. Weisfuse, I just want to refer to

          8  your testimony on the last page, page six, second

          9  paragraph.  In your closing it states that your

         10  budget is "balanced with no significant service

         11  impacts", and we just beg to differ because as you

         12  know, there are hidden cuts within this years

         13  Executive Budget that includes about $28.1 million

         14  in reductions, some programs that were funded in

         15  the`06 Adopted Budget, in addition the reductions

         16  include things such as tuberculosis, child health

         17  clinics, infant mortality initiative reductions, as

         18  well as emergency preparedness reductions, as well

         19  as HIV and AIDS reductions, which we know this marks

         20  the 25th year that we have diagnosed AIDS and HIV in

         21  the City of New York.

         22                 So, I would like to differ in your

         23  testimony where you state that there are no

         24  significant service impacts because I do believe

         25  that cutting $28 million out of these programs that
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          2  are pivotal and fundamental to our city does

          3  translate into a service impact.

          4                 Can you explain that statement, and

          5  how you feel about the HIV and AIDS money that is

          6  being cut, the infant mortality money that is being

          7  cut, the tuberculosis money that is being cut, the

          8  child health clinic money that is being cut?       There

          9  are so many other programs that affect us like

         10  asthma and other initiatives that the Council put

         11  forward.

         12                 MR. REIN:  I understand.  Just to

         13  clarify as Dr.  Weisfuse was referring to the

         14  baseline budget, you are referring to as you know,

         15  when the City budget is adopted, the executive in

         16  the City Council negotiates City Council additions

         17  on a one year basis to that budget, and in the

         18  subsequent year, in this case Fiscal Year`07, unless

         19  something happens like they are at it again in

         20  adoptions, they do not exist in the budget and that

         21  is what you are referring to, is those one- time,

         22  one year adds. Now, many of these programs

         23  certainly, and you referred to many of them, infant

         24  mortality, HIV and the others you referred to, many

         25  of them are very beneficial to health and we
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          2  certainly would welcome them being in this year's

          3  Adopted Budget.

          4                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Yes, my

          5  interpretation is that there is only one city budget

          6  under- that is the budget we approve at the end of

          7  the year.  Any subsequent budgets that come after

          8  that should and would include the previous years

          9  budget, if not, then they are considered a reduction

         10  or an elimination.

         11                 So I mean, it is just a difference in

         12  how we define the term budget.  You know, there is

         13  only one budget for the City of New York, there is

         14  not two.  So, that is just a difference of opinion.

         15                 Other than that we just have another

         16  question in reference to the Nurses Home Visiting

         17  Initiative.  The Department looks to commit about

         18  $3.6 million, $2.3 million in City funds in Fiscal

         19  Year`07, and $3.1 million of City funds in the outer

         20  years to expanding the Nurse Family Partnership and

         21  the newborn home visiting program.  These initiative

         22  improve the health of mothers and infants, and

         23  provide necessary services to first time mothers.

         24                 How does the Department select first

         25  time mothers to take part in these two important
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          2  initiatives?

          3                 MS. BASSETT:  Hi, I do not have to

          4  introduce myself again but I have standing behind me

          5  Deborah Kaplan, who is our Assistant Commissioner

          6  for the Bureau of Maternal Infant Reproductive

          7  Heath, and I think that she is the best place to

          8  address the specifics of how we recruit.

          9                 It should be clear that we have two

         10  different programs here.  One is the Intensive

         11  Nurse- Family Partnership Program, which is

         12  directed, at the moment we have a capacity for about

         13  850 mothers, and the next fiscal year that will be

         14  increased to over 1,300 mothers.

         15                 Then we have another broader program

         16  aimed at a larger number of mothers called the Nurse

         17  Home Visiting Program.

         18                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay.

         19                 MS. KAPLAN:  Good afternoon, Deborah

         20  Kaplan, Assistant Commissioner, Bureau of Maternal

         21  Infant Reproductive Health.

         22                 Your question specifically is how do

         23  we identify the first time mothers.

         24                 So basically, the Nurse- Family

         25  Partnership is for woman who have not had children
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          2  before, teens, and woman, no age barrier, and then

          3  can be enrolled until seven months, or 28 weeks

          4  gestation.

          5                 We identify them through a range of

          6  sources.  One of our concerns is that we truly reach

          7  the highest risk teens and mothers who need the

          8  service.  So we, of course, partner with HHC and

          9  other facilities that offer prenatal care, and let

         10  them know about the program in the communities that

         11  we serve.

         12                 In addition, we work specifically

         13  with WIC, with other community- based organizations

         14  that through one way or another reach out and serve

         15  woman of childbearing age.

         16                 Recently, we have been working

         17  closely, meeting with the administration for

         18  Children's Services and Department of Homeless

         19  Services who, as you know, serve some of the highest

         20  risk teens and mothers through foster care, and

         21  through the homeless shelters.  We are working to

         22  develop a model for these very high risk teens and

         23  women through direct referral through these

         24  governmental agencies.

         25                 So basically, it is networking and
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          2  partnering through a range of ways in the community

          3  and getting the word out to community agencies and

          4  members about the program.  We are also working with

          5  Legal Aid, Legal Services who see woman and teens

          6  who go through the court system.

          7                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, thank

          8  you.

          9                 I do know we have other questions on

         10  behalf of the committee members.  We have Co- Chair

         11  on the Task Force on Hospital Closings, Council

         12  Member Sears, and then after her, Council Member

         13  Jackson.

         14                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Thank you

         15  very much, and good afternoon.  It is good to see

         16  you.

         17                 I just have a fast couple of

         18  questions.

         19                 What would you do that you are not

         20  doing now, that you are blocked by state law when it

         21  comes to AIDS, and either treatment, testing or

         22  counsel?

         23                 MR. REIN:  We think that the HIV

         24  counseling and testing laws that are currently on

         25  the books are an inhibitor to getting HIV counseling
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          2  and testing done.  By that I mean that there are

          3  really lots of requirements in terms of the nature

          4  of the pre- and- post test counseling sessions that

          5  occur, as an example, and the need for a written

          6  informed consent in all situations.

          7                 We think that this has a chilling

          8  effect on being able to do the test in some places,

          9  and some practices, and we think that by allowing

         10  more flexibility on that issue it would allow for

         11  more tests being done.  The root of this is that

         12  something on the magnitude of 25 percent of our

         13  reported AIDS cases are people who get diagnosed and

         14  reported at the time that they have AIDS.  The

         15  incubation period between getting infected or the

         16  time period between getting infected, or the time

         17  period between getting infected between HIV and AIDS

         18  can be as long as ten years or eleven years.  So,

         19  here you have a person who got to the point where

         20  they were relatively sick, and could have been in

         21  theory tested earlier and gotten into care earlier.

         22                 So, it is trying to get making HIV

         23  testing easier to do, more routinized, and getting

         24  people into care if they are HIV positive.  We

         25  think, whether they are treated at that moment or
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          2  not, still getting into care and getting that access

          3  into care is an issue.  So, changing some of the

          4  dynamics of the HIV testing is an issue.

          5                 The second issue has to do with some

          6  of the follow up.  Right now we have some

          7  information that allows us to assess whether

          8  somebody is in care, and we cannot use it.

          9                 So for an example, we will get viral

         10  low counts on people and if we see, for example,

         11  that a year goes by and they have not had a new

         12  test, that may be a person who had dropped out of

         13  care, and right now we are precluded from going and

         14  asking them`how is it going, and how can we be

         15  helpful?'  So that part of the law, we think, also

         16  needs to be changed.  Again, this does not

         17  necessarily mean that people have to get care if

         18  they do not want it, that is fine, but we are

         19  concerned about people who not only do not know

         20  their status, but also people who do know their

         21  status who have now dropped out of care for whatever

         22  reason, and we want to make sure they have every

         23  opportunity to get back into a primary care system

         24  if they want to.

         25                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  All right.
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          2  Assuming, let us just assume that some of that was

          3  corrected in the`07 year, would you need a budget

          4  modification or would you be able to handle that

          5  with the`07 budget?

          6                 That is why I asked that question are

          7  bring it up here because it would ultimately be a

          8  budget question.              Estimating, not

          9  numbers but do you think you could operate within

         10  the confines of the`07 budget that will pass by June

         11  30th?

         12                 MR. REIN:  I think at this stage the

         13  answer is yes.  We are going to have to go get to

         14  the table and make some changes in our current

         15  internal allocations but we go on record to say that

         16  it will not affect the amount of dollars that go out

         17  for community activities, community prevention, et

         18  cetera.  So we are going to have to look internally

         19  for that.

         20                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  All right,

         21  that is very key.

         22                 There is one other thing, it really

         23  does not have to do with you, it is more a comment

         24  on the diabetes.  It is something that really,

         25  basically we should pull the Department of Education
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          2  and the DOH to the table because there are new

          3  schools being built, and I do not have gymnasiums,

          4  only because they really are occupying more in class

          5  space than they are concerned about the

          6  overutilization than the health.  I would agree the

          7  schools I go to, and I see the elementary kids, talk

          8  about obesity, it is right there in front of you

          9  when you get there, and they have no gyms in those

         10  schools I go to.

         11                 Seems to me that we are going to have

         12  to pull the two agencies together, and we are going

         13  to because you are absolutely right.

         14                 The other thing for the patches for

         15  smoking to be free of the dependency on tobacco, and

         16  I do not know the question to this, is it illegal to

         17  ask the age of those who call in and ask for this

         18  patch as a confidential and statistical piece?     There

         19  is a reason why I ask that because smoking is on the

         20  increase among teenagers, and we have no way of

         21  knowing exactly, once they have started what their

         22  interest is in stopping, and they may call, and that

         23  certainly would affect the budget.  I do not really

         24  know the answer to that, but let us assume you

         25  could, is that something that could be done easily?
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          2                 MS. BASSETT:  Is your question in the

          3  patch giveaway program, do we know to whom we are

          4  offering these patches?

          5                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  And the age?

          6                 MS. BASSETT:  And the ages, yes, we

          7  voluntarily collect from people information about

          8  their age, their gender, and their race, and we also

          9  of course since we are going to be mailing, we know

         10  where they live.  So, we are able to track

         11  where- who the people are who are receiving these

         12  patches, and we try and direct our media and, sort

         13  of, promotion of this campaign to groups that are

         14  underutilizing the service.

         15                 So for example, if young adults are

         16  not using the service we point it out and say we

         17  would like to see more young adults calling up, and

         18  taking advantage of this opportunity as long as the

         19  patches are still available, and they are all gone

         20  now.  We finished--.

         21                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  So, what are

         22  you going to do, are you going to order more?

         23                 Or are you going to get Pfizer to see

         24  that they donate?

         25                 MS. BASSETT:  No, we do this as a
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          2  one- time campaign.  It has not been an ongoing

          3  campaign.

          4                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay, so then

          5  for this one time campaign, and you do collect that

          6  data, you would be able then to pull together on the

          7  younger age groups?

          8                 MS. BASSETT:  We are able to say

          9  something about the demographic distribution of the

         10  people who receive the patches.

         11                 Now you are aware, council member,

         12  that we also do something called The Community

         13  Health Survey, which gathers a great deal of

         14  information about adults over the age of 18, and

         15  their range of risk factors including their use of

         16  tobacco.

         17                 So, we have a lot of information

         18  about who is using tobacco, and we are concerned

         19  about the use among young people.

         20                 CO- CHAIRPERSON SEARS:  Okay, then

         21  one of the things that I suggest and Mr. Chair you

         22  might want that information from a certain age down

         23  because we could look from the Council what

         24  initiatives are taken to really do some pilot

         25  programs on those particular age groups, and if they
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          2  were successful and if they were not, and to take

          3  that further because those who stop smoking in the

          4  older adult groups is decreasing, you know they have

          5  stopped, it is increasing on the younger age groups,

          6  and we really need to give a heavy concentration on

          7  that. That has a lot to do with their studies.  It

          8  has a lot to do with their health.  It has a lot to

          9  do with their school performance. All the things we

         10  deal with in the city budget, and we see some of the

         11  needs rising and we have cuts, but I think that with

         12  a coordination of agencies we would be able to see

         13  government at its finest by pooling all its

         14  resources together, and really targeting in on those

         15  areas that we could do something about.  So that

         16  would be very helpful if you could do that.

         17                 Thank you, and I have to commend you

         18  on how you have cut your budget, and the fact with

         19  your lead lamps, which is a very good thing because

         20  others are doing it, and they are doing it faster

         21  and better.  So, thank you.

         22                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

         23                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you

         24  very much.

         25                 Next we have Council Member Jackson,
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          2  and then Council Member Stewart.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Thank you,

          4  Mr. Chair.

          5                 Good afternoon everyone, good to see

          6  you.  I am sorry I was not here at the beginning of

          7  your testimony.

          8                 I just have three things I want to

          9  touch base with you on.

         10                 One, as you know, Mayor Bloomberg

         11  signed into law on December 29th I believe, or 27th,

         12  the Minority Women- Owned Business Law, and also

         13  subsequently, approximately about a week and a half

         14  ago he signed into law the Disparate Business

         15  Enterprise Bill into law.

         16                 Where do you stand as far as the

         17  goals and objectives and increasing Minority Women

         18  Owned Business contracts in the City of New York as

         19  far the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, and

         20  who is responsible for ensuring that your agencies

         21  goals and objectives as far as MWBE/DBE are

         22  achieved?

         23                 MR. REIN:  Scottie Owings- Leaks, our

         24  Deputy Commissioner for Administrative Services who

         25  also oversees our Agency Chief Contracting Officer,
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          2  who is in charge of this is probably best to address

          3  the specifics.

          4                 MS. LEAKS:  Hi, I am Scottie Owings-

          5  Leaks, Deputy for Administrative Services.

          6                 We have already been engaged in a

          7  process in our purchasing, really this is not

          8  totally new to the City.

          9                 However, we have in place through our

         10  ACO's Office, which is the contracting unit and our

         11  purchasing, systems where we first look through and

         12  make sure that we engage- go through the process of

         13  including as appropriately outlined in the PPB rules

         14  contracting with minority owned businesses, and

         15  contracted services otherwise.

         16                 As a matter of fact, if you probably

         17  look in the city record, we are pretty good on that

         18  front.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  How much do

         20  you contact out a year?

         21                 MS. LEAKS:  Those exact figures I do

         22  not have in front of me, but I can--.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Do you have

         24  an approximate figure?

         25                 MS. LEAKS:  Have not looked at it, I
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          2  just do not carry it here.

          3                 MR. REIN:  We can certainly get back

          4  to you on that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  You are

          6  telling me that in accordance with the laws that

          7  were passed by this particular Body that the

          8  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, you are

          9  either achieving your goals or exceeding the goals.

         10  Is that what I am hearing?

         11                 MS. LEAKS:  Correct.  Definitely

         12  achieving, I will not say exceeding.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Okay, well

         14  achieving, not necessarily exceeding, you know you

         15  can exceed the goals you know that?   Do you

         16  understand that?

         17                 MS. LEAKS:  Yes.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  I mean, the

         19  goal is not the ceiling.

         20                 MS. LEAKS:  Yes, yes.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Okay.

         22                 MS. LEAKS:  You asked me a question,

         23  I gave you the answer.  I know we are achieving.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Okay, I just

         25  do not want you to stop at a glass ceiling here.
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          2                 Do you understand the point that I am

          3  making?

          4                 MS. LEAKS:  I understand clearly.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  It is a

          6  goal, I mean, you can exceed the goal.

          7                 MS. LEAKS:  I understand that.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  In fact, the

          9  Mayor's Office will award you if you exceed the

         10  goal.

         11                 MS. LEAKS:  If you exceed the goal

         12  correctly.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Okay, thank

         14  you.

         15                 Second question I have is concerning

         16  Manhattanville Health Clinic.  That has been an

         17  issue in my community that I represent, which is

         18  Community Board 9, and you have the leaders of the

         19  Grant Houses, and the leaders of Manhattanville, and

         20  leaders of Community Board 9 are very concerned

         21  about the fact that, and I spoke to the Health and

         22  Hospitals Commissioner earlier.  They are

         23  responsible for staffing it and implementing it, and

         24  DOH is responsible for finishing it, and it has been

         25  too long, and I raised this last year at the
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          2  Executive Budget Hearing.

          3                 Where do we stand as far as

          4  completing that?

          5                 MS. LEAKS:  At this particular point,

          6  we have in our budget right now $600,000 that will

          7  not complete that project.  The other pieces, as you

          8  are aware, the designation of how the space will be

          9  used is still under review, and we have been meeting

         10  with community groups around that.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  But that is

         12  a totally different issue.  The issue of completing

         13  that so that it can be open is the point, and the

         14  fact is, if you are only telling me that you have

         15  $600,000 in your budget to complete that, and that

         16  is not enough, from my perspective as a member of

         17  the City Council, that is totally unacceptable.  Let

         18  me just say that, and let me just give you an

         19  example of what I mean.

         20                 Governor Pataki signed into law the

         21  $11.2 billion for the CFE monies to build new

         22  schools, and he signed it into law at a warehouse

         23  that is owned by the City of New York to build a

         24  brand new high school, and out of a $15 billion

         25  budget, that is what we spend on education every
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          2  single year, that high school is only going to cost

          3  $100 million, and over 500 people at a forum asked

          4  me,`how come we cannot build that school?'  And do

          5  you know what I said to them?  "It was not the

          6  priority of the Administration to get it built."

          7  Because you cannot tell me that within your

          8  Department of Health's budget that you cannot

          9  complete a project.

         10                 If in fact projects go uncompleted,

         11  what are we doing here?  We are not fulfilling our

         12  mission if, in fact, that was a project that was

         13  supposed to be rehabbed and open, and every year you

         14  are telling me that there is no money in the budget.

         15                 What is the Department of Health's

         16  budget?  How much is your budget, Sir?

         17                 MR. REIN:  Our budget is $1.5

         18  billion.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  $1.5

         20  billion, now how much would it cost to finish this

         21  health clinic?

         22                 MS. LEAKS:  Approximately $2.8

         23  million.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Now that is

         25  minuscule in that budget, and you are telling me
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          2  that over five years that has been like that, we

          3  cannot finish it.  That is what you are saying to

          4  me.

          5                 MS. LEAKS:  Well, no that is not what

          6  I am saying.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Well, what

          8  are you saying to me?

          9                 MS. LEAKS:  What I am saying to is

         10  that there was a budget for the exterior project.

         11  That was completed last fall.

         12                 So, the initial renovation that was

         13  approved, we have spent that money and it was

         14  completed last fall.  There is still funding

         15  required in order to do the interior, but it has not

         16  been five years since nothing has happened with that

         17  building.  The exterior was completed last fall.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  I am not

         19  talking about the exterior.

         20                 MS. LEAKS:  But that is part of the

         21  building, that was part of--.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Right, but I

         23  am talking about how long that clinic has been

         24  closed and the people of that community have not

         25  been having access right there at a health clinic,
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          2  right outside their window, right outside

          3  Manhattanville, and right across the street from

          4  Grant, that building, that clinic has not been

          5  reopened, and that community needs that.

          6                 Regardless of whether it opens up

          7  exactly the way it was before, or a different

          8  configuration, it is a shame that that is not open,

          9  and I think that- I am speaking out loud, and I know

         10  that I am a member of the City Council, and I know

         11  that I can talk about allocating some of my capital

         12  money, but we need to get that open.  Not you, we.

         13  We need to get that open, and we need to get it open

         14  right away.  It is totally unsatisfactory to the

         15  people of New York, and the people of that

         16  community, that that clinic is not reopened.  It is

         17  a shame.  It is a damn shame, and I say that because

         18  that is the way it is being expressed to me because

         19  they are pointing the fingers at me.  You mean,`what

         20  are you doing to get that clinic reopened?'  And I

         21  say that we are working on it, but obviously`we', I

         22  am including me and you, and I am not just pointing

         23  my fingers at you, we are not working hard enough.

         24  We are not working hard enough to make sure that is

         25  done, and I want to see that clinic open, and the
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          2  people of that community want to see it reopened.

          3                 So, I am going to be calling within

          4  the next day or two to sit down to map out how can

          5  we get that to make sure it is in this budget, in

          6  this budget for`07, and I am not only looking at

          7  you, I am looking at who is the- you are the what?

          8  You are the Executive Deputy Commissioner?  Then you

          9  are the boss right now because the Commissioner is

         10  not here, and I am looking at you.

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  And we

         12  welcome your input into our decision with what we

         13  will do with the interior--.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Yes, that is

         15  one thing what we do with it, but let us get it

         16  finished.  Let us get it finished.

         17                 Right now people say the exterior is

         18  finished, the exterior does not mean anything, if

         19  the interior is not done. That means we wasted all

         20  of this money.

         21                 It is a matter of frustration that I

         22  am expressing to you that people are expressing to

         23  me, and I am talking about, what people are we

         24  talking about?  The leadership of Manhattanville,

         25  the leadership of Grant, the leadership of Community
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          2  Board 9, the Child Health Care Advocates are

          3  expressing that to me.

          4                 All right, I am going to be calling.

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  We

          6  look forward to your phone call.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Then the

          8  last item is, where do we stand as far as the

          9  Washington Heights Lead Safe House?

         10                 MR. REIN:  Jessica Leighton, our

         11  Deputy Commissioner for Environmental Health

         12  Services is most familiar with that.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  Good

         14  afternoon, I am Jessica Layton.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON WEPRIN:  Good afternoon,

         16  Jessica.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  You

         18  too, Deputy Commissioner for Environmental Health.

         19                 As you may or not know, the northern

         20  Manhattan Lead Safe House has been funded for this

         21  year.  There is no money in the budget for next year

         22  for funding for the Northern Manhattan project.

         23                 However we would welcome any funding

         24  to support that safe house and the continuation

         25  of--.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Well, you

          3  know we have a $4 billion surplus, you know that,

          4  right?  The City of New York has a $4 billion

          5  surplus, you are aware of that, right?

          6                 In fact, we put $2 billion, we are

          7  having $2 billion aside to deal with retirees health

          8  care benefits.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  At

         10  this point, the funding has not been allocated for

         11  that project.  We have units in northern Manhattan

         12  that the State currently funds, I presume you are

         13  aware of that, and there are also facilities in the

         14  Bronx as well as in Brooklyn for safe houses.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  So, if

         16  somehow the funding is not there, then that lead

         17  safe house will close, if we do not receive the

         18  funding to fund it.  Is that correct?

         19                 Not unless some private donor donates

         20  the money to keep it open, it will close.  Is that

         21  correct?  That is safe to say, is that correct?

         22                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  For

         23  some of the units.  For some of the units, the State

         24  does fund in northern Manhattan.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Well, I know
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          2  that City money was spent to build it, and quite

          3  frankly, I think, not only I think, I know that the

          4  need is there, my colleague Miguel Martinez it is

          5  technically in his district, but it serves not only

          6  northern Manhattan, it serves anywhere where there

          7  is a need for individuals to go to the Lead Safe

          8  House, and as- when we talk about children, our

          9  Speaker Christine Quinn and I, we were standing at

         10  the GOT BREAKFAST press conference where we were

         11  talking about how important it is for children to

         12  have breakfast to stay healthy, and Christine Quinn

         13  the Speaker has an initiative to make sure that all

         14  four year old Pre- K children have full day Pre- K

         15  so they can have a good healthy start as far as

         16  education, ensuring that our children that are

         17  exposed to the lead have a safe place to go is

         18  extremely important, and the whole scheme of

         19  ensuring that we provide for our young, that really

         20  cannot provide for themselves.

         21                 So, I want to leave you with that

         22  thought, and I look forward to working with all of

         23  you in order to come up with the solution.  Not just

         24  saying you come up with the solution.  I am not just

         25  pointing the fingers, I am pointing the fingers at
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          2  all of us because, we all of us, we have a

          3  obligation to ensure that that happens.

          4                 Thank you, Mr. Chair.

          5                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Okay, thank

          6  you very much, and last but not least we have

          7  Council Member Stewart.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Thank you,

          9  Mr. Chair.

         10                 I want to switch a little bit.

         11                 In the budget, the Preliminary

         12  Budget, we seem to have left out the Infant

         13  Mortality Reduction Initiative, and you are

         14  expecting us to put it back every year, this seems

         15  to be like back and forth, back and forth.

         16                 Could you tell me what you are

         17  expecting for us to really make a dent in the infant

         18  mortality rate?  Because if you are to remove $4.8

         19  million- in other words, the Preliminary Budget

         20  comes back and it says well, it is not included

         21  here, and then you are expecting us to put it back

         22  or you are expecting us to do something, what are

         23  you expecting, what kind of figure are you expecting

         24  us to deal with so as to have a dent, so as to have

         25  us to see that we are going to have a reduction in
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          2  the infant mortality rate?

          3                 MS. BASSETT:  Thank you, council

          4  member.

          5                 I should point out that the Mayor in

          6  the last fiscal year baselined about $4.6 million

          7  for the improvement of the health of women and

          8  infants, and in FY`08 an additional $4.85 million

          9  has been baselined in our budget for home visiting

         10  programs.

         11                 So, that brings to over $9 million

         12  funding, which is directed to the health of women

         13  and infants for programs which we have already

         14  discussed; the Newborn Home Visiting Program, and

         15  the Nurse Family Partnership, programs that we

         16  believe will have an impact on infant mortality

         17  rates.

         18                 So, that there has been a substantial

         19  budget allocation to programs that have an affect on

         20  the health of women and infants.

         21                 The infant mortality rate is a very

         22  important public health outcome, and I would not

         23  make the argument that $7.4 million is all that we

         24  need.  We value the Infant Mortality Reduction

         25  Initiative, we have worked collaboratively with our
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          2  community partners to identify important programs,

          3  and this is an important initiative, one that the

          4  Council has supported, which we have entered into

          5  very useful partnerships with the community

          6  organizations, one that has a substantial public

          7  health impact, and one that we would like to see

          8  continue.

          9                 MR. REIN:  And may I just add as you

         10  discusses how much, and there is so much work to be

         11  done in this area.  As Doctor Bassett said, we have

         12  worked collaboratively with the Council and our

         13  community partners to make good use of this money.

         14                 There is certainly other programs,

         15  such as nurse practitioners in high schools that

         16  could even do more, and we welcome the opportunity

         17  to talk more about these programs with varieties of

         18  private and public funders as money would be

         19  available, that would be helpful.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  All right, I

         21  want to switch a little bit.

         22                 TB, I get the impression that it says

         23  here from the Executive Budget, it has not restored

         24  the $279,000 for TB, especially the programs like

         25  the one in Bushwick and those places.  Let us talk
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          2  about that.

          3                 What is your plans?  What are you

          4  doing as far as TB is concerned?

          5                 Or am I to assume that TB is on its

          6  way out, and the incidents are not there that much

          7  anymore, and so that we can cut that out?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  TB

          9  during calendar year`05, for the first time since

         10  1920 we had less than 1,000 cases of reported TB in

         11  the City.  However, so that is a remarkable

         12  statistic.

         13                 However that being said, TB is a

         14  disease that unless one pays attention to it can

         15  rebound, as history has shown us.

         16                 So clearly it is an important public

         17  health measure and issue in the City, and so we

         18  cannot reduce our attention.  I am not sure if the

         19  $270,000 had to do with the CTL part of it.  A lot

         20  of that, my recollection came out of reimbursement

         21  contracts for hospitals that were not being used.  In

         22  other words, we used to give money to hospitals for

         23  inpatient treatment of tuberculosis.  That has, over

         24  the years, gone down because TB is not as needed as

         25  an in- hospital diagnostic- in hospital stay issue
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          2  as perhaps in the past, and so the need for that

          3  money has gone down, and that pool of money has been

          4  decreased.  But in terms of our commitment to TB, it

          5  must remain strong.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I have some

          7  concern there because of the fact that you know TB

          8  is one of those diseases that can lay dormant for

          9  quite a while and only because for the fact that the

         10  conditions like inadequate housing and things like

         11  that can cause it to really flare up, and we know

         12  that problem that we have in New York City in terms

         13  of housing in places like Bushwick and those places,

         14  where if you do not have adequate housing and all of

         15  that, you can have an increase in the showing of

         16  that disease, and if you are to remove that type of

         17  funding, it means then we can be far, far from being

         18  behind the eight ball, so I just want you to know

         19  that I am concerned about that, removing any type of

         20  funding that really can keep a check on those folks

         21  that might be- right now they may appear to be

         22  healthy, but if they are in a situation whereby the

         23  housing is inadequate, you may find that we have an

         24  increased incident, so I want you to be cognizant of

         25  that.
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          2                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Can I

          3  just make one other comment on that issue that I

          4  wanted to bring to the Council's attention?

          5                 There was an initiative that began to

          6  transverse from tuberculosis clinical services in

          7  the neighborhoods of Far Rockaway and Brownsville,

          8  and the Far Rockaway clinical services transfer was

          9  successfully completed to the Addabbo Health Center.We

         10  are still working on the Brownsville transfer, it

         11  has not happened yet, and the city council funds

         12  that allowed us to continue those services are still

         13  being used.

         14                 One of the problems that has come up

         15  recently is that there were certain structural

         16  issues within the building that we need to correct

         17  before we get the state permit and allow Brownsville

         18  Medical Center to come in.  And so, we are still

         19  continuing this in Brownsville until such time that

         20  we can make those corrections of the building, and

         21  then again, our plan is for the Brownsville Group to

         22  come in.  We think that that is going to be an

         23  advantage because the Brownsville Group is going to

         24  be there every day of the week, and it is going to

         25  offer complete medical services, not just TB

                                                            174

          1  FINANCE AND HEALTH COMMITTEES

          2  services.

          3                 So, I think ultimately the services

          4  to the community will be better.  We have not been

          5  able to do that handoff yet because of some of these

          6  issues that we are working on.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Let me

          8  switch a little bit again.

          9                 Every so often we see or hear about

         10  animal bites, dog bites especially in the summer and

         11  so on.  Do you see an increase of incidence of dog

         12  bites or animal bites, and how and what are we doing

         13  to really combat such an issue?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  We

         15  have not seen an increase--.

         16                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  If you could

         17  just identify yourself for the record.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  I am

         19  sorry.  Doctor Jessica Layton, Deputy Commissioner,

         20  Environmental Health.

         21                 We have not seen an increase in

         22  animal bites.  We do follow up if we do get

         23  information about bites that are serious.  There are

         24  about 3,000 or more bites a year.  We do license

         25  dogs, and we do require rabies shots for dogs, and
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          2  at this point we do try to get as many dogs as we

          3  can to get licensed so we can have information on

          4  specific dogs.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  So you said

          6  that we do license dogs.

          7                 Do we have police- dog police who go

          8  out there to make sure that these folks who have

          9  dogs that they are licensed, or that they have their

         10  rabies shots, or what ever?

         11                 Do we have that capability of doing

         12  that now?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  We do

         14  not have a large group to do enforcement at this

         15  time--.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  But are we

         17  doing any whatsoever?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  Mostly

         19  the police at this point do enforcement of that type

         20  of activity.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  If I were to

         22  ask you how many summonses were issued within the

         23  last 12 months, do you think you can tell me that?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  I do

         25  not have that information.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Was any

          3  issued?

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  I do

          5  not have that information.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I doubt any

          7  was issued, right?

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  I just

          9  would have to get back to you on that.  I just do

         10  not have that information.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  I just feel

         12  that we go through the motions every year, that we

         13  are saying listen, and it comes up every time some

         14  child has been mauled by a dog.  It comes up that we

         15  talk about these things, but in actuality if you

         16  checked, I do not think there are any summonses

         17  being issued for people who have dogs that are not

         18  licensed or there is no summonses being issued for

         19  one who may have a dog and is not treated properly.

         20  I do not see it in New York.  In other places, yes.

         21  In other cities we see it on the TV, but we do not

         22  see any of these kinds of things in New York, and I

         23  would like to know that our people are being

         24  protected in the sense that people should not have

         25  dogs who would be viscous enough to maul someone,
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          2  and we only do something when the dog does- mauls

          3  someone.

          4                 We should be able to put it in place,

          5  and do what we have to do instead of just talking

          6  about it when something happens.

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  You

          8  know, it is hard to identify dogs who are at risk

          9  for being- dog bitings (sic).  We do euthanize dogs

         10  who do attack, and they get sent and euthanized.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Yes but if a

         12  dog is licensed it is supposed to carry a tag.  Is

         13  not it?

         14                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER LEIGHTON:  When

         15  it is public, that is correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER STEWART:  Right, so I

         17  am saying that being the case, we should be policing

         18  that issue, going out there and having folks go out

         19  there, you see a dog in public, sometimes I am

         20  walking down the street and the guy has three dogs,

         21  three Pit Bulls, and they do not look like they are

         22  being- you know, I have to walk 20 or 30 feet away

         23  because I am afraid that that dog may just snap at

         24  me, and at looking at that, he does not have a tag.

         25  I am not so sure that that dog is licensed, and I am
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          2  saying we should be doing what we ought to do.  It

          3  is not because of cost because the license and the

          4  policing will pay for its cost.

          5                 That is what I am looking at, and so

          6  I hope you take note of that because I am interested

          7  in making sure that those people who have dogs are

          8  licensed and that they make sure that they have some

          9  kind of insurance in case the dog snaps at any time.

         10                 All right, thank you, Mr. Chair.

         11                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you,

         12  and the last and final question will come from Alan

         13  Gerson, then we have to try to convene the Parks and

         14  Finance Committee thereafter.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you,

         16  Mr. Chair.

         17                 Doctors, good afternoon.  Thank you

         18  all.

         19                 Unfortunately, I needed to attend a

         20  meeting during the earlier part of your testimony on

         21  a criminal incident, follow up to a criminal

         22  incident which took place in my district but I do

         23  have your testimony, and I know my colleagues were

         24  extraordinarily thorough.

         25                 I know we always have the opportunity
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          2  of following up, but I just do want to ask you about

          3  one critical issue, critical health issue, and that

          4  is the Hepatitis B problem, epidemic indeed, in many

          5  communities, and the pending third year of the

          6  City's initiative, and I presume you are familiar

          7  with the Hepatitis B Initiative of which I am

          8  speaking.

          9                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  That

         10  is correct.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And as a

         12  matter of fact, while it was a Council initiative

         13  and continues as such, due to the leadership of our

         14  Speaker, Chris Quinn, and our Health Committee

         15  Chair, Joel Rivera, but in fact, we met with the

         16  Department early on before the program got underway,

         17  and your participation and your help and your

         18  leadership have been absolutely critical.

         19                 So, this past fiscal year there was

         20  $2 millions that will have been expended, well

         21  spent?

         22                 Do you feel the program served it

         23  purposes?           Should we continue it?

         24                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  You

         25  know, I think that it is a good program.  The crux
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          2  of the program was to screen people, specifically,

          3  Asian- Americans in the New York City community for

          4  Hepatitis B, and then those who are susceptible they

          5  vaccinated, and those who they found to be carriers

          6  they got into treatment at Bellevue.  So, that work

          7  is important for a couple of reasons.  Number one,

          8  it gives you the opportunity to prevent transmission

          9  to those who are susceptible, and protect them

         10  against Hepatitis B, and we know that there are

         11  increased risks because they are more likely to be

         12  living in a household where there is a carrier,

         13  given the serologic information we have gained.  And

         14  people who are carriers are likely to benefit from

         15  monitoring and potentially treatment, depending on

         16  the medical evaluation results.

         17                 I think that the problem is

         18  sustainability.  It is really the problem that we

         19  are running up against.  In the sense that many

         20  people may not have medical insurance.  The

         21  treatments are very, very expensive, so I think it

         22  is worthwhile but I think we really need to get to

         23  the table to talk about how in the future it may be

         24  medically sustainable through some sort of

         25  reimbursement plan.
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          2                 I actually have talked to some of the

          3  folks at N.Y.U. who actually raised this issue to

          4  us, and I think it is important for us to seek out

          5  how to do that, and that is not only as issue for

          6  this particular project, it is an issue for many

          7  Hepatitis treatments that are very expensive, very

          8  long term, and among people who do not have any kind

          9  of medical reimbursement. So, it really is almost a

         10  national problem but it is something that we would

         11  need to sort out how to make it a sustainable

         12  program.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And when you

         14  talk about sustainability, you are talking about a

         15  financial sustainability?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Yes,

         17  my sense from the program is that there has been

         18  very good community buy in.  I do not think that

         19  that has lagged at all.  I think that the

         20  organizations involved feel very strongly about it,

         21  so my sense is that it is mainly financial rather

         22  than some other barrier in the community or amongst

         23  the people.  I am sure there are some small ones but

         24  nothing has risen to our attention as being a major

         25  barrier in acceptance.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  In terms

          3  though of cost effectiveness of what we are doing

          4  now, for those folks to whom we are able to

          5  administer the vaccine, this is one of those

          6  diseases where a vaccine is effective, is it not?

          7                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Among

          8  healthy adults, the vaccine should be effective in

          9  90 to 95 percent of individuals who finished the

         10  three- course dose.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And in the

         12  absence of a vaccine, if someone is exposed or has

         13  the Hepatitis B agent it could evolve into, in a

         14  worst case scenario, liver cancer, is not that the

         15  case?

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Well,

         17  yes, that would be the worst case scenario.  Most

         18  adults who get Hepatitis B resolve their infection

         19  without going into a kind of chronic sense.

         20                 So probably about 80- 90 percent of

         21  people, it is not a pleasant illness to have but get

         22  over that infection, and probably five to ten

         23  percent of adults, not children, but of adults may

         24  come down with some sort of chronic condition due to

         25  the Hepatitis B, and then a small segment of that
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          2  could, down the line, get liver cancer.

          3                 The issue is though these events

          4  happens years, sometimes even decades, after

          5  infection.  So if you are going after a sense of

          6  cost savings, the cost savings from doing that are

          7  sort of in the future.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Sure, I think

          9  first and foremost we are going after human life

         10  savings, of course.  But in terms of financial

         11  sustainability, my suggestion and I will conclude,

         12  my suggestion is until we figure out, as I agree

         13  with you we need to do so, the longer term issues,

         14  which you cited, it still behooves us to do what we

         15  can, and get out there, scream where appropriate,

         16  administer vaccine, and where we find the need,

         17  administer treatment from both the humanitarian and

         18  the financial perspective.

         19                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:

         20  Correct.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  So would you

         22  then suggest to the Council that- with the

         23  understanding that over the next year, which is

         24  actually in the original program was supposed to be

         25  the third and concluding year, we go ahead and work
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          2  out these issues of sustainability but in the

          3  meantime, we should go ahead and continue the

          4  program into its third year?

          5                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  I

          6  would agree with that assessment.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Then finally,

          8  based on the successes to date an identification of

          9  other communities which are at risk, the Vietnamese

         10  community in the Bronx, other immigrant communities,

         11  certain immigrant communities from South America

         12  have- are reported to have like ten percent carrier

         13  rates, certain categories of the Easter European

         14  community, if we can add a little bit more money to

         15  expand what has proven successful in the community

         16  we have served to date, to reach into those

         17  communities, would you endorse that idea as well?

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  That

         19  would be great, I think though that--.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  You could

         21  wind up there,`that would be great' is a great

         22  answer.

         23                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER WEISFUSE:  Okay,

         24  I would just say that one of things that made this

         25  successful is that there was an infrastructure
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          2  within the community to do that.

          3                 So my only suggestion would be if in

          4  some of these communities there was a similar

          5  infrastructure to help support it, would be the most

          6  beneficial kind of combination.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And I think

          8  that is the plan.  I think for the additional

          9  proposed $900,000 that that sum includes the

         10  development and implementation of that type of

         11  infrastructure.

         12                 Okay, well thank you, thank you very

         13  much Mr. Chair, and I also would add thank you very

         14  much to you for your leadership on this critical

         15  issue, and of course as I said earlier, I do not

         16  know if he was here, to John Liu for his brilliant

         17  leadership on this issue as well.

         18                 Thank you all very much.

         19                 CO- CHAIRPERSON RIVERA:  Thank you

         20  very much.

         21                 I think this concludes the health

         22  portion of the Finance hearing.

         23                 We will reconvene for the Parks

         24  portion with the Finance Hearing during the next

         25  couple of minutes.
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          2                 Thank you very much to the Department

          3  of Health.

          4                 Aside from the little budget

          5  difference of $28 million, I think you are doing a

          6  phenomenal job at protecting the health of our City.

          7                 Thank you.

          8                 (Hearing adjourned at 1:45 p.m.)
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